
COUNCIL

13 February 2020

To: The Mayor and Members of
WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL

SUMMONS TO A MEETING

You are hereby summoned to attend an ORDINARY 
MEETING of the COUNCIL to be held in the Council 
Chamber, Civic Offices, Gloucester Square, Woking on 
THURSDAY, THE THIRTEENTH DAY OF FEBRUARY 
2020 at 7.00 pm to transact the business specified in the 
agenda overleaf

RAY MORGAN
Chief Executive

Civic Offices,
Woking

NOTE:  Filming Council Meetings

Please note the meeting will be filmed and will be broadcast live and subsequently as an archive on the 
Council’s website (www.woking.gov.uk).  The images and sound recording will also be used for training 
purposes within the Council.  Generally the public seating areas are not filmed.  However by entering the 
meeting room and using the public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed.

Public Document Pack



2



3

AGENDA
Prior to the commencement of business, Mr Steve Petch, Pastor of the Welcome Church, Woking
will say prayers.

1. MINUTES 
To approve the minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 5 December 2019, as 
published.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

3. MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS. 

4. URGENT BUSINESS. 
To consider any business which the Chairman rules may be dealt with under Section 
100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. (Pages 7 - 8)
(i) To receive declarations of interest from Members and Officers in respect of any item to 

be considered at the meeting.
(ii) In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, Councillor D J Bittleston declares a 

non-pecuniary interest in any items concerning the companies of which he is a 
Council-appointed director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The 
interests are such that speaking and voting are permissible.

(iii) In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, Councillor A Azad declares a non-
pecuniary interest in any items concerning the companies of which she is a Council-
appointed director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The interests 
are such that speaking and voting are permissible.

(iv) In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, Councillor C S Kemp declares a 
non-pecuniary interest in any items concerning the companies of which he is a 
Council-appointed director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The 
interests are such that speaking and voting are permissible.

(v) In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, Councillor D Harlow declares a 
non-pecuniary interest in any items concerning the companies of which she is a 
Council-appointed director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The 
interests are such that speaking and voting are permissible.

(vi) In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, Councillor G S Cundy declares a 
non-pecuniary interest in any items concerning the companies of which he is a 
Council-appointed director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The 
interests are such that speaking and voting are permissible.

(vii) In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Chief Executive, Ray 
Morgan, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-pecuniary) in any items 
concerning the companies of which he is a Council-appointed director.  The companies 
are listed in the attached schedule.  The interests are such that Mr Morgan may advise 
the Council on those items. 



4

(viii) In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Deputy Chief 
Executive, Douglas Spinks, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-pecuniary) in 
any items concerning the companies of which he is a Council-appointed director.  The 
companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The interests are such that Mr Spinks 
may advise the Council on those items.

(ix) In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Head of Democratic 
and Legal Services, Peter Bryant, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-
pecuniary) in any items concerning the companies of which he is a Council-appointed 
director.  The companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The interests are such 
that Mr Bryant may advise the Council on those items.

(x) In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Finance Director, 
Leigh Clarke, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-pecuniary) in any items 
concerning the companies of which she is a Council-appointed director.  The 
companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The interests are such that Mrs Clarke 
may advise the Council on those items.

(xi) In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Director of Housing, 
Louise Strongitharm, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-pecuniary) in any 
items concerning the companies of which she is a Council-appointed director.  The 
companies are listed in the attached schedule.  The interests are such that Mrs 
Strongitharm may advise the Council on those items.

(xii) In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Finance Director, 
Leigh Clarke, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-pecuniary) in any items 
concerning Woking Football Club and/or the GolDev Woking Limited development.  
The interest arises from (i) her husband having a small shareholding in Woking 
Football Club and (ii) being a Council-appointed director of Kingfield Community Sports 
Centre Limited.  The interest is such that Mrs Clarke may advise the Council on those 
items.

(xiii) In accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the Head of Democratic 
and Legal Services, Peter Bryant, declares a disclosable personal interest (non-
pecuniary) in any items concerning Woking Football Club and/or the GolDev Woking 
Limited development.  The interest arises from (i) him being a member of the Cards 
Trust (the supporters’ club for Woking Football Club), (ii) providing occasional unpaid 
assistance to Woking Football Club, e.g. acting as returning officer at the election of 
directors and (iii) being a Council-appointed director of Kingfield Community Sports 
Centre Limited.  The interest is such that Mr Bryant may advise the Council on those 
items.

6. QUESTIONS. 
To deal with written questions submitted by Members under Standing Order 8.1.  Copies of 
the questions and of the draft replies (which are subject to amendment by the Leader of the 
Council) will be laid upon the table.

7. COUNCIL TAX 2020/21 - WBC20-003. 

8. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE - WBC20-004. (Pages 9 - 14)
To receive and consider recommendations from the Executive.

8a. General Fund, Service Plans, Budgets and Prudential Indicators 2020-21 EXE20-001  
8b. Housing Revenue Account Budgets 2020-21 EXE20-002  
8c. Investment Programme 2019-20 to 2023-24 EXE20-003  
8d. Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategies EXE20-004  



5

8e. Recommendation from Climate Change Working Group - Climate Emergency - 
Planning for Carbon Neutrality EXE20-010  

8f. Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy EXE20-007  
8g. Housing Infrastructure Fund - Funding Allocation of £95Million to Woking Town Centre 

EXE19-060  

9. SHEERWATER REGENERATION - WBC20-001 (Pages 15 - 72)

10. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2020-21 AND GENDER PAY GAP DATA - WBC20-002 
(Pages 73 - 90)

11. NOTICES OF MOTION (Pages 91 - 94)
To deal with any motions received in accordance with Standing Order 5.0.  Any motions 
received before the deadline has passed for the receipt of motions will be published and a 
copy of the list will be tabled at the meeting.

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
In the event any Member of the Council wishes to discuss information set out in the 
confidential supporting information in respect of Agenda Item 8g – Recommendations of the 
Executive – Housing Infrastructure Fund – Funding Allocation of £95Million to Woking Town 
Centre, considered by the Executive at its meeting on 6 February 2020, the Mayor will move, 
and the Deputy Mayor will second:-

"That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of item 13 in 
view of the nature of the proceedings that, if members of the press and public were present 
during this item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A, to the Local Government Act 1972.”

Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).

PART II – PRESS AND PUBLIC EXCLUDED

13. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE - HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND – 
FUNDING ALLOCATION OF £95MILLION TO WOKING TOWN CENTRE - WBC20-004. 

AGENDA ENDS

Date Published - 5 February 2020

Note: At the close of the meeting the Worshipful the Mayor, Councillor Mrs Beryl Hunwicks, would 
like to invite the following to join her in the parlour:-

The Deputy Mayor, Councillor Hussain, Councillors Ashall, Aziz, Barker, Bittleston, Bond, 
Chrystie, Davis, Forster, Harlow, Hughes, Johnson, Leach, Lyons, Mohammed and 
Whitehand, together with Officers attending the meeting.





Schedule Referred to in Declaration of Interests

Council-appointed directorships

Councillor D J Bittleston

Export House Limited Thameswey Guest Houses Limited

Rutland Woking (Carthouse Lane) Limited Thameswey Housing Limited

Rutland (Woking) Limited Thameswey Limited

Rutland Woking (Residential) Limited Victoria Square Residential Limited

Thameswey Developments Limited VSW Hotel Limited

Victoria Square Woking Limited

Councillor A Azad

Thameswey Central Milton Keynes Limited Thameswey Housing Limited

Thameswey Developments Limited Thameswey Limited

Thameswey Energy Limited Thameswey Maintenance Services Limited

Thameswey Guest Houses Limited Thameswey Solar Limited

Thameswey Sustainable Communities Limited

Councillor C S Kemp

Thameswey Guest Houses Limited Thameswey Housing Limited

Thameswey Limited

Councillor D Harlow

Thameswey Guest Houses Limited Thameswey Housing Limited

Thameswey Limited

Councillor G S Cundy

Brookwood Cemetery Limited Brookwood Park Limited

Woking Necropolis and Mausoleum Limited

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Ray Morgan, Chief Executive

Export House Limited Thameswey Limited

Rutland Woking (Carthouse Lane) Limited Victoria Square Residential Limited

Rutland Woking (Residential) Limited VSW Hotel Limited

Rutland (Woking) Limited Victoria Square Woking Limited

Thameswey Maintenance Services Limited Woking Shopping Limited

Douglas Spinks, Deputy Chief Executive

Brookwood Cemetery Limited Thameswey Energy Limited

Brookwood Park Limited Thameswey Limited

Energy Centre for Sustainable Communities 
Limited

Thameswey Solar Limited

Export House Limited Thameswey Sustainable Communities Limited

Thameswey Central Milton Keynes Limited Woking Necropolis and Mausoleum Limited

Woking Shopping Limited

Peter Bryant, Head of Democratic and Legal Services

Brookwood Cemetery Limited Thameswey Energy Limited

Brookwood Park Limited Thameswey Guest Houses Limited

Energy Centre for Sustainable Communities 
Limited

Thameswey Housing Limited

Kingfield Community Sports Centre Limited Thameswey Limited

Rutland Woking (Carthouse Lane) Limited 
(alternate for Ray Morgan)

Thameswey Maintenance Services Limited

Rutland (Woking) Limited 
(alternate for Ray Morgan)

Thameswey Solar Limited

Thameswey Central Milton Keynes Limited Thameswey Sustainable Communities Limited

Thameswey Developments Limited Woking Necropolis and Mausoleum Limited

Leigh Clarke, Finance Director

Kingfield Community Sports Centre Limited

Louise Strongitharm, Housing Director

Thameswey Developments Limited Thameswey Housing Limited

Thameswey Guest Houses Limited Thameswey Limited

Page 8



WBC20-004

COUNCIL – 13 FEBRUARY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE

The Council is invited to consider the recommendations from the meeting of the Executive held on 
6 February 2020, as set out in this report.  The minutes of the Executive will be published in due 
course.

Procedure to be followed.

The Mayor will take the report on Council Tax 2020-21 (Agenda Item 7) first, together with the 
recommendations of the Executive meeting on 6 February 2020 relating to the following:

a. General Fund, Service Plans, Budgets and Prudential Indicators 2020-21.

b. Housing Revenue Account Budgets 2020-21.

c. Investment Programme 2019-20 to 2023-24.

d. Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategies.

The items above will be debated after the Leader of the Council’s Budget Statement.  

The remaining recommendations from the meeting of the Executive, as set out in this report, will be 
considered once the Council Tax for 2020-21 has been agreed.  

e. Recommendation from Climate Change Working Group – Climate Emergency – Planning for 
Carbon Neutrality

f. Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy

g. Housing Infrastructure Fund – Funding Allocation of £95Million to Woking Town Centre

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



Recommendations of the Executive

Page 10



Recommendations of the Executive

EXECUTIVE – 6 FEBRUARY 2020

A. GENERAL FUND, SERVICE PLANS, BUDGETS AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2020-
21

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL That

i) the Revenue Estimates and Human Resource requirements for 
2020/21 be approved;

ii) a Band D Council Tax for the Borough of Woking for 2020/21 of 
£245.46 be approved;

iii) the charge for overnight car parking in the town centre car parks be 
amended to apply from 6pm from 1 April 2020; 

iv) a long-term empty premium of 200% be added to the Council Tax 
payable for properties empty and substantially unfurnished for 
between 5 and 10 years from April 2020, and of 300% to be added to 
the Council Tax payable for properties empty and substantially 
unfurnished for over 10 years from April 2021;

v) the Prudential Indicators at Appendix 3 to the report be approved, 
subject to any changes arising from consideration of the Investment 
Programme, revenue budgets and Final Government Settlement; 

vi) the Service Plans for 2020/21 at Appendix 4 to the report be 
approved; and

vii) the Food Safety Plan and Health and Safety Plan at Appendix 4a and 
4b to the report be approved.

B. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGETS 2020-21

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL That

i) the Housing Revenue Account budget for 2020/21 as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the report be approved; and

ii) with effect from 6 April 2020, rents be increased by 2.7%.

C. INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 2019-20 TO 2023-24

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL That

i) the Investment Programme 2019/20 to 2023/24 be approved subject 
to reports on projects where appropriate;

ii) the proposed financing arrangements be approved; 

iii) additional loan facility of £500,000 to Thameswey Energy Ltd be 
approved on the same basis as previous loans; and

iv) capital and revenue grants for Brookwood Cemetery for 2021/22 be 
approved.

Page 11



Recommendations of the Executive

D. CAPITAL, INVESTMENT AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL That

i) the Capital and Investment Strategies for 2020/21 be approved; and

ii) the Treasury Management Prudential Indicators set out in table 1 of 
Section 4 of the Treasury Management Strategy and the MRP policy 
set out in Appendix A be approved, subject to any changes arising 
from consideration of the Investment Programme, revenue budgets 
and Revenue Support Grant Settlement.

E. RECOMMENDATION FROM CLIMATE CHANGE WORKING GROUP – CLIMATE 
EMERGENCY – PLANNING FOR CARBON NEUTRALITY

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL That

i) officers be authorised to implement initial actions for 2019/20 and 
2020/21 as recommended in the report; and

ii) delegated authority be given to the Assistant Director (Place) in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder and Shadow Portfolio Holder 
for Environment and Sustainability to agree new actions as they are 
identified.

F. HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL That

i) the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2024 be 
approved; and

ii) the Director of Housing, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing, be delegated authority to make minor amendments to the 
Strategy and to update the action plan as required.

G. HOUSING INFRASTRUCTURE FUND – FUNDING ALLOCATION OF £95MILLION TO 
WOKING TOWN CENTRE

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL That

i) the £95m grant awarded to the Council by Homes England be 
accepted, and that delegated authority be given to the Chief 
Executive to agree the terms of the contract in consultation with the 
Leader and Portfolio Holder, and to undertake necessary 
prerequisite work to develop the project;

ii) the Council accepts that it will be responsible for any project cost 
overruns;

iii) any underspend of the grant award, and/or any surplus funds from 
the sale of the Triangle site, will be made available to fund project 
cost overruns, with any balance to be reinvested into local 
infrastructure that supports housing delivery;

Page 12



Recommendations of the Executive

iv) the Council authorises advance funding of £10m, in the form of a 15 
year annuity loan from the PWLB for the scheme, to be recovered 
from a proportion of Community Infrastructure Levy and from site 
specific S.106 tariffs, over the next 15 years;

v) the Council commits to use reasonable endeavours, including use of 
Compulsory Purchase Order powers, to acquire the Triangle site, 
land required for the replacement of Victoria Arch, land required for 
widening of the A320, and land required for development sites as 
outlined in the bid, if not brought forward by current owners;

vi) the Council commits to the delivery of homes, as outlined in the bid, 
on the sites owned by it or its subsidiary Thameswey;

vii) the Council approves the Recovery Strategy set out at Appendix 7 to 
the report; and

viii) the Deputy Chief Executive be authorised to undertake a review of 
Community Infrastructure Levy and to establish a Section 106 Tariff 
for town centre infrastructure associated with the HIF project.

Background Papers: 
None.

Reporting Person:
Leigh Clarke, Finance Director
Email: leigh.clarke@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3277 

Ray Morgan, Chief Executive
Email: ray.morgan@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3333 

Douglas Spinks, Deputy Chief Executive
Email: douglas.spinks@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3440 

Louise Strongitharm, Director of Housing
Email: louise.strongitharm@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3599 

Contact Person:
Frank Jeffrey, Democratic Services Manager
Ext. 3012, E Mail: Frank.Jeffrey@woking.gov.uk

Portfolio Holders:
Councillor Ayesha Azad
Email: cllrayesha.azad@woking.gov.uk 

Councillor David Bittleston
Email: cllrdavid.bittleston@woking.gov.uk

Councillor Kevin Davis
Email: cllrkevin.davis@woking.gov.uk

Councillor Debbie Harlow
Email: cllrdebbie.harlow@woking.gov.uk

Page 13



Recommendations of the Executive

Date Published:
7 February 2020

REPORT ENDS

Page 14



WBC20-001

COUNCIL – 13 FEBRUARY 2020

SHEERWATER REGENERATION

Executive Summary

This report updates the Council on, and seeks Council’s approval of four matters concerning, the 
Sheerwater Regeneration Scheme:-

 the funding of the remainder of the Scheme;

 the giving of an undertaking in respect of the affordable housing forming part of the Scheme;

 an update on progress towards making the proposed Compulsory Purchase Order and 
confirmation of the Council’s commitment to make that Order; and

 the authorisation of the Housing Director, in consultation with the Housing Portfolio Holder and 
Head of Democratic and Legal Services, to seek possession of Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) properties when required for the Scheme.

The regeneration of Sheerwater will enable the Council to achieve its long standing ambition to 
address the inequalities of health, income and amenity of the area.  

Recommendations

The Council is requested to:

RESOLVE That 

(i) the Loan Finance for the delivery of the Sheerwater Regeneration 
scheme, as summarised below, be approved;

Facility          
£m

Term Type Rate
Arrangement 

fee
Thameswey Developments Ltd (during construction) 115 Up to 5 years Maturity relevant PWLB rate No
Thameswey Housing Ltd (until constuction complete) 290 Up to 5 years Maturity relevant PWLB rate No
Thameswey Housing Ltd Operational 290 50 years Annuity relevant PWLB rate No
Thameswey Housing Ltd Revolving Loan facility 116 Up to 30 years Maturity relevant PWLB rate No
Thameswey Energy Ltd 5.25 20 years Annuity relevant PWLB rate No

(ii) following consideration of the matters contained in this report relating 
to the proposed compulsory purchase order:-

(a) Council re-affirms its commitment to using its compulsory purchase 
powers as set out in Section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to compulsorily purchase the Order Land, and 

(b) authority is delegated to the Head of Democratic and Legal 
Services to settle the final form and content of the Order and all 
associated documentation so that a final decision on the making of 
the Order can be made at the Council meeting on 2 April 2020. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 9



Sheerwater Regeneration

(iii) authority is delegated to the Director of Housing, in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Housing and the Head of Democratic and Legal 
Services to seek, at the appropriate time, possession (under the 
Housing Act 1985) of Housing Revenue Account (HRA) properties 
within the Sheerwater Regeneration Area. 

The Council has the authority to determine the recommendations set out above.

Background Papers: None.

Reporting Person: Peter Bryant, Head of Democratic and Legal Services
Email: peter.bryant@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3030 

Contact Person: Peter Bryant, Head of Democratic and Legal Services
Email: peter.bryant@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3030 

Date Published: 7 February 2020

Page 16



Sheerwater Regeneration

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Council has previously agreed to proceed with the Sheerwater Regeneration Scheme and 
appointed Thameswey Developments Limited as its developer. 

1.2 The construction of the new leisure facilities at Bishop David Brown School started in July 
2019.  The first phase of the residential development (purple phase), comprising 92 
residential properties (46 affordable), started in August 2019. 

1.3 This report deals with four matters, i.e. 

 the funding of the remainder of the Scheme.

 the Executive Undertaking for the affordable housing forming part of the Scheme.

 confirmation of the Council’s commitment to make the proposed compulsory purchase 
order.

 ensuring that the Council can obtain possession of Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
properties when they are required for the Scheme.

2.0 Funding

Financial Modelling

2.1 During 2017 the Council engaged EY to build a financial model for the Sheerwater project.  
The model incorporated functionality to assess changes in both Thameswey Developments 
Ltd (TDL) and Thameswey Housing Ltd (THL).  The key variables in the model are the total 
development costs, timing of works and market sales values for TDL, and the rental levels, 
inflation and interest rates for THL.

2.2 The model has been updated by Thameswey as the project has progressed and now reflects 
the latest proposals, costs and assumptions.  It covers 60 years from 2018 to 2078, with 
construction forecast to be completed in 2025/26, and THL managing the rental properties as 
they are completed, through to 2078.

2.3 The Council has already approved release of funding for:

 Acquisition of properties (£37m at 31 January 2020)

 £5m to work up final proposals and planning permission (2017/18)

 £26m for leisure facilities at Bishop David Brown School site (April 2018)

 £48.4m for Purple phase (April 2019)

Thameswey are now seeking approval for the remaining project loan facility.

2.4 Over time the regeneration project has developed with an improved design and outcomes for 
the Council, however the financial position has become more challenging.  This has been 
due to increases in the costs estimates, assumed property market inflation to date not being 
realised and interest rate increases due to the government 1% increase in PWLB rates from 
October 2019.

2.5 It has become clear that following these changes the project cannot afford to make all the 
contributions towards the Council costs which had previously been assumed and it will be 
necessary to vary these expectations in order that the project can proceed.  

Page 17



Sheerwater Regeneration

Financial Assumptions

2.6 The project had originally included a refund to the Council for the £3.8m underwrite of New 
Vision Homes costs when Thameswey took over the project.  This was funded by the HIP 
reserve in 2017/18.  It was also proposed that there would be a £8m contribution towards the 
leisure facilities at the Sportsbox, related to the relocation of the Athletics track.  The Council 
would also be reimbursed the £2.1m costs of removing the overhead power line in 
Sheerwater which was completed in 2017/18.  Both the sports facilities and the power line 
have been funded by borrowing pending the receipt of contributions.   

2.7 Whilst it is accepted that the Council will not be able to recover these costs previously 
expended in the short to medium term, it is proposed that mechanisms be put in place for the 
contributions to be made from the project in future when the finances allow. 

2.8 In March 2012 the government required the Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to 
pay £98m to buy out of the Housing funding arrangements which were in place at the time.  
This was known as ‘self-financing’ and the debt calculation was supported by a debt 
allocation for each property in the HRA.  It has been agreed that the project should 
compensate the HRA for the debt relating to the properties that are part of the regeneration 
area.  The value of the debt for these properties in 2012 was £8m.  The model assumes this 
will be paid to the HRA as the properties are taken for the project.

2.9 The current model is based on the following key assumptions:

Inflation 3% on development costs, sales prices and rent levels

Value engineering 2.6% applied on development costs to all phases 
except Leisure Centre and Purple

Interest Rates 2.79% Short term maturity rate during construction, 
3.57% Long term annuity rate on completion
3.42% Revolving loan facility

No margin to WBC
No arrangement fees

Grant income £9.384m from Homes England towards the leisure 
centre

Sales & Marketing fees 1%

THL Operating costs Management Fees 6%
Void 1%
Minor Refurbishment £1000 per property per annum 
start in year one
Major Refurbishment £10,000 per property every 10 
years, commencing after 20 years

2.10 In total the project is forecast to cost £492m.  The majority of this is the construction cost, 
£412m, which has been estimated by Synergy (Construction and Property Consultants).  A 
breakdown of this cost is provided in Appendix 1.  £70m is land acquisition, £8m project 
costs and £2m sales and marketing costs.   

2.11 Earlier versions of the financial modelling assumed that all of the market properties would be 
sold to subsidise the affordable housing and to enable the repayment of a proportion of the 
debt associated with the development.  It was always envisaged that if market conditions 

Page 18



Sheerwater Regeneration

were not favourable, Thameswey could hold some of these properties for rent at market 
rents.   The housing market has not seen prices increase over the last 3 years as the model 
had forecast.  It is therefore now assumed that 40% of the market provision will be property 
for rent.  This will continue to be reviewed throughout the project as an upward movement in 
the market could mean that it is possible to sell a higher proportion.  The property numbers 
for rent and sale are shown in Appendix 1.  

2.12 Unlike the typical THL funding approach, where loans are interest only for 25 years, the 
Sheerwater model assumes that debt will be repaid on an annuity basis from the start.  This 
places greater pressure on the cashflows as the affordable rents are not sufficient to cover 
the full financing costs for some time.  The model assumes that a revolving loan facility 
operates to provide funds for THL to make these repayments.  

Model outputs

2.13 Based on the assumptions above, the model shows debt of £314m on completion of the 
construction works.  The project peak debt is £347m in September 2046, 21 years after the 
project is completed.  This comprises an outstanding balance on the 50 year annuity of 
£236m and £111m revolving loan facility reflecting the need to provide further funding to 
support the rental levels in these years.  The revolving loan facility increases to a peak of 
£115m in 2055, however from 2046 onwards the net debt (loans less cash balances) 
reduces.  The revolving loan is no longer needed from 2069.  THL net debt becomes positive 
in 2073, 47 years post completion.  The closing cash balance in 2078 is £177m.  A summary 
of the debt profile with graphs showing the balances is included in Appendix 1.

2.14 On completion of the construction phase THL acquires the final rental properties from TDL.  
The model shows a balance of £4.6m cash held within TDL on completion of construction in 
2025/26.  Peak debt in TDL is £115m based on current construction and sales profiles.    

2.15 Thameswey Energy Limited (TEL) will acquire the Energy Station within the development.  
This is estimated to cost TDL £5m and it is proposed that TEL would pay a 5% premium, a 
total cost of £5.25m.

2.16 The Thameswey group therefore requires the following loan facilities to complete the project.  

Facility          
£m

Term Type Rate
Arrangement 

fee
Thameswey Developments Ltd (during construction) 115 Up to 5 years Maturity relevant PWLB rate No
Thameswey Housing Ltd (until constuction complete) 290 Up to 5 years Maturity relevant PWLB rate No
Thameswey Housing Ltd Operational 290 50 years Annuity relevant PWLB rate No
Thameswey Housing Ltd Revolving Loan facility 116 Up to 30 years Maturity relevant PWLB rate No
Thameswey Energy Ltd 5.25 20 years Annuity relevant PWLB rate No

2.17 The facilities shown above are for the whole Sheerwater project.  Any loans already drawn 
down under existing facilities will be allocated against these new totals.  It is proposed that 
rates previously agreed and arrangement fees paid will be retained, however for new 
drawdowns the new arrangements will apply.  No arrangement fees have been paid for the 
Purple phase or acquisitions.  

2.18 Any properties outside of the development area but acquired by Thameswey to facilitate the 
relocation of Sheerwater residents are not included in the above loan facilities or project 
costs.  These will be funded through the existing Thameswey Housing Loan facilities.  

2.19 Some long term loans have been taken by Thameswey for the Purple phase while long term 
interest rates have been attractive.  It is proposed that Thameswey be allowed the flexibility 

Page 19



Sheerwater Regeneration

to choose to continue to take long term annuity loans during the construction period.  This 
would be utilising the THL Operational facility for TDL, and the loans would transfer from TDL 
to THL on completion.  This provides the flexibility to achieve the optimal rates available 
while funds are drawn during the construction.

2.20 In addition to the closing cash balances, Thameswey Housing Ltd will own the freehold 
properties.  Assuming a 3% increase in property values per annum, applied to the 2020 price 
base, the 246 market rental properties would be worth approximately £470m by 2078.  
Including the social and affordable rented properties, the open market valuation of all the 
residential assets would be £1,141m.  The asset values have not been considered in 
evaluating the project.

Sensitivity analysis

2.21 The model is shown to work in the base case as illustrated by the outputs above, however it 
requires ongoing financial support for many years and remains sensitive to changes in the 
underlying assumptions.  Relatively small changes in interest rates and inflation assumptions 
affect the time taken for income generated to cover the financing costs (period of increasing 
revolving loan) and for the debt to be repaid (date of positive cash balance).

2.22 Current interest rates, together with the latest forecasts from Link (the Council’s treasury 
management advisors), are shown in Appendix 1.  These are currently within the Sheerwater 
model assumptions, but the forecast increases rates over the construction period and at the 
end would exceed the assumed rate.  Interest rates applicable into the future are difficult to 
forecast and the project would remain exposed to borrowing rates while the revolving loan 
facility applies.

2.23 The assumed rental increases, at 3%, are in line with current Thameswey policy.  After a 
period of rental reductions imposed by the government, HRA rents are now increasing at CPI 
+ 1%.  For April 2020 this equates to an increase of 2.7%, however, the government target 
for CPI is 2%, which would result in an increase at the assumed rate.  Historically CPI has 
increased by 2.38% on average over the last 10 years.  

2.24 Annual average 3% house price increases are considered reasonable although it is expected 
that there will be years when this is significantly higher or lower, including reductions in 
value.

2.25 High level sensitivity analysis is shown in Appendix 1 and demonstrates that a 0.5% increase 
in interest rates or a 0.5% reduction in rental inflation could result in closing negative cash 
balance (debt outstanding) in THL of £142-185m.  There are associated increases in the 
peak debt as the revolving loan would also be increasing for a longer period.  Compounding 
both increased interest rates and reduced inflation results in closing debt of £527m at the 
end of the model, with debt still increasing.  This analysis does not take any account of the 
asset valuation at 2078 which, as set out in paragraph 2020 above, could be in total circa 
£1.1bn.

2.26 Given the sensitivity of the model, and the long term nature of the assumptions, it is 
proposed that further work be undertaken to improve the financial position providing more 
scope for negative pressures to be contained.  The Council will request that the government 
award a ‘project rate’ PWLB which would reduce interest rates by up to 1.4% on the current 
published rate.  Further work will be undertaken to try to secure additional contributions to 
the scheme which would reduce the long term debt to be financed by THL.  There will be 
continual review of the project proposals and phasing to ensure the programme achieves the 
best value.  

2.27 The next key decision point for Thameswey is on completion of the tender exercise for the 
next programmed phases.  A summary delivery timetable together with other scheme details 

Page 20



Sheerwater Regeneration

was included in the presentation to Members which is attached at Appendix 4.  Once tenders 
are received there will be more certainty on a proportion of the construction costs, and an 
indication of the accuracy of current estimates.  It is forecast that the cost incurred in getting 
to this next stage is approximately £7m.  

2.28 It is proposed that Thameswey report the results of the next tender exercise, together will an 
updated model and assumptions prior to acceptance of tenders.  This will provide an 
opportunity to take stock and ensure there has been no negative impact on the modelling 
and to take a view on future trends.  It may be that further adjustments then need to be taken 
to the base proposals which could include review of starting rental levels for affordable 
properties, amending the proportion of market sales and rentals or considering amendments 
to the scope of works.

3.0 Executive Undertakings

3.1 The Sheerwater Regeneration Scheme has, through its development, been the subject of 
three planning permissions.  The first permission (PLAN/2015/1260) was obtained by New 
Vision Homes.  The two most recent permissions (PLAN/2018/0337 and PLAN/2018/0374) 
were obtained by Thameswey Developments Limited, and were granted in 2019.  The 
permissions were the subject of Section 106 Agreements (Thameswey) and Executive 
Undertakings (Council, as landowner).

3.2 The evolution and improvement of the Sheerwater Regeneration Scheme has resulted in 
there being some minor discrepancies between the various Section 106 Agreements and 
Executive Undertakings insofar as the affordable housing is concerned. 

3.3 The number of properties rented at “Kingsmoor Park”/social rent levels will be the same as 
existed before the regeneration (the previous social rented properties comprised Council 
secure tenancies and Registered Provider tenancies). There will also be additional properties 
let at affordable rents. 

3.4 It would be beneficial for the Section 106 Agreements and Executive Undertakings to be 
“tidied-up”.  The LPA is being requested to agree appropriate amendments to ensure that 
they correctly reflect the affordable housing included in the Scheme.  It is anticipated that the 
proposed amendments will be considered at the Planning Committee on 25 February 2020. 
To provide the assurance the Planning Committee will require, Council (as landowner) will 
need to provide a formal undertaking in respect of the affordable housing, i.e. confirming that 
it will be provided.  The wording of the undertaking is currently being discussed with the local 
planning authority.  This will be the subject of a supplementary report to Council, which will 
be circulated before its meeting on 13 February 2020. 

4.0 Compulsory Purchase

4.1 The Head of Democratic and Legal Services has instructed Davitt Jones Bould (“DJB”), 
solicitors with expertise in compulsory purchase matters, to act for the Council in preparing 
and progressing the proposed compulsory purchase order.  DJB have prepared the 
addendum attached to this report (Appendix 2).  This addendum contains DJB’s comments 
and advice on the proposed compulsory purchase order (“Order”).    

4.2 This report (which term includes the addendum) updates the Council on progress made with 
regard to the regeneration of Sheerwater and outlines proposals for a mixed use 
regeneration scheme (“the Scheme”).  The purpose of the report is to enable the Council to 
consider the use of compulsory purchase powers and whether or not there is a compelling 
case in the public interest for doing so.  On the basis of the analysis set out in this report, it is 
recommended that, subject to the matters identified as requiring further action, the Council 
re-affirms its commitment to making an Order to facilitate the carrying out of the Scheme. 

Page 21



Sheerwater Regeneration

4.3 The extent of the interests and rights in land proposed to be acquired are set out in this 
report as the Order Land, shown on the Order Map, a copy of which is attached to this report 
(Appendix 3).

This report sets out the background to and need for the Scheme and explains the relevant 
powers of the Council to acquire the Order Land compulsorily.  It also sets out the relevant 
factors for the Council’s consideration in determining whether or not to exercise compulsory 
purchase powers, including the Scheme’s adherence to planning policy, prospects for 
delivery and, with the financial report contained earlier in this report, its financial viability and 
deliverability.  This report also includes matters for consideration in relation to the Council’s 
Public Sector Equality Duty and the implications for the Human Rights of those who might be 
affected by the Order (see sections 6.9 - 6.20 below)  

4.4 Significant progress has been made in purchasing the 120 residential properties forming part 
of the Order Land. As at 31 January 2020, only 6 homeowners had failed to engage with the 
Council.  The Council has made it clear that the enhanced terms in the Sheerwater 
Community Charter apply to negotiated acquisitions agreed before the Order is made.  Upon 
making the Order, negotiations for further voluntary acquisitions will be based on the 
statutory regime for determining compensation.

4.5 From a procedural point of view, Council should formally resolve to make the Order after the 
Planning Committee has considered the proposed clarification of the affordable housing 
provision referred to in section 3 of this report.  This should be at the Planning Committee on 
25 February 2020.  A short report will, therefore, be brought to Council on 2 April 2020.  This 
will update the Council on any material changes since this (February) report to Council, and 
contain the formal resolution for the Order.  

5.0 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Properties

5.1 The Council’s Sheerwater Housing Team was established in 2017 and provides dedicated 
staff to support residents with the re-housing process.  Officers have been engaging with 
tenants at the earliest opportunity to assess their respective needs for new accommodation.  
At the time of writing this report, the Team has engaged with 298 secure tenants.  There are 
currently 28 households who have not yet responded to contact. 

5.2 Based on the individual discussions, 71% of tenants want to leave Sheerwater with the other 
29% looking to remain and wait for the new properties.  In 2017, there were 326 remaining 
secure tenants, of which 159 have now moved out of Sheerwater on a voluntary basis. 

5.3 Where possible, the Council intends to continue to work with secure tenants to agree a 
suitable move.  However, where this is not possible the Council reserves the right to seek 
possession through the legal process, in which case the criteria for re-housing will be as 
defined by legislation and not as defined in the Sheerwater Community Charter. Legal action 
to gain possession of tenanted properties will be a last resort.  

5.4 The Council has powers under the Housing Act 1985 to seek possession of a property that is 
earmarked for redevelopment. Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 1985 contains a number of 
grounds on which the Council may seek possession of a secure tenancy.  These include 
where the Council intends to demolish and/or redevelop a property within a reasonable time 
and suitable alternative accommodation is available. 

5.5 To ensure the successful delivery of the regeneration scheme, Notices of Seeking 
Possession will be served on all secure tenants within a phase or across the whole 
regeneration area.  This will not require a secure tenant to move immediately, but is a 
safeguard to ensure that the re-housing programme is not disrupted where agreement 
cannot be reached.

Page 22



Sheerwater Regeneration

5.6 In the unfortunate circumstances that the Council is unable to reach agreement with a secure 
tenant, the Council may apply to the court for a possession order the Housing Act 1985.  This 
report seeks delegated authority for the Director of Housing, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Housing and the Head of Democratic and Legal Services, to proceed with 
possession proceedings under the Housing Act 1985 at the appropriate time. 

5.7 It is anticipated that Notices of Seeking Possession will be served approximately 12 months’ 
before the Council requires possession to commence the redevelopment.

6.0 Implications 

Financial

6.1 Implications of loss of contribution in the short/medium/long term.

6.2 The Council has incurred costs to date on the NVH Underwrite, Pilons, and provision of 
alternative athletics facilities at the Sportsbox.  There was an expectation that these costs 
would be recovered from the Sheerwater regeneration project.  Whilst there is no immediate 
impact as the costs have already been incurred, and financing costs are already being 
covered, there will be an impact on medium term forecasts.  The £3.8m NVH underwrite, was 
funded by the HIP reserve which will have less resources available to invest in other projects 
if it is not recovered.  The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) assumed a reduction in 
financing costs of £370k relating to the contribution for the Sportsbox.  No adjustment had 
been assumed for the recovery of the Pilons.  No margin from loans for Sheerwater had 
been assumed in the MTFS.

6.3 With the base assumptions as set out in this report, the financial modelling shows that the 
Sheerwater project can generate sufficient income over the long term to repay the 
construction debt and provide the proposed sub-market rentals.  Thameswey would also be 
left with a substantial asset base which, due to budgeted maintenance during the period, 
should have continued useful life beyond 2078. 

6.4 Until tenders are received for the various phases of works, there remains uncertainties 
around the total construction costs.  Variations in interest rates and inflation also could result 
in an increased peak debt and longer time required to repay the borrowing.  With the 
revolving loan facility required for 30 years in the base scenario there remains an exposure 
to interest rate fluctuations over this period.  

6.5 It is proposed that work continues to provide further financial flexibility within the model and 
that Thameswey report back to the Council prior to accepting the tenders for the next 
phases.

6.6 The Council can approve the funding facilities requested in accordance with the 
arrangements in this report.

Human Resource/Training and Development

6.7 None, directly arising from this report.

Community Safety

6.8 None, directly arising from this report.

Risk Management

6.9 As set out in this report. 

Page 23



Sheerwater Regeneration

Sustainability

6.10 None, directly arising from this report.

Equalities

6.11 The Council is required to comply with its Public Sector Equality Duty (as set out in Section 
149 of the Equality Act 2010).  In addition, the Council has had regard to relevant guidance in 
this regard.  The decision to make the Order is one that this duty applies to and accordingly, 
the Council has commissioned the preparation of the EqIA to assess the potential impacts of 
the Scheme on groups with protected characteristics.  This is set within the context of the 
Council’s Priority Places Action Plan identifying the objective of delivering transformational 
change in Sheerwater as a Strategic Priority.

6.12 The EqIA contains a number of recommendations for the Council to adopt as the plans for, 
and delivery of, the Scheme progresses.  These are set out in full within the EqIA. 
Accompanying the EqIA is a detailed Action Plan setting out recommendations from the 
EQuIA in respect of specific “themes” and/or groups with protected characteristics and 
suggestions to mitigate any adverse impacts.  The Council has put in place measures and 
strategies to implement this Action Plan and mitigate the impacts identified within it.

6.13 The EQuIA and its accompanying Action Plan was presented to a meeting of the full Council 
on 5th April 2018 and to the Sheerwater Oversight Panel at its meeting on 27th June 2018. 
At both meetings the EQuIA and Action Plan were endorsed, together with all of their 
recommendations.

6.14 The conclusions of the EqIA are set out in full within the EqIA, however, can be summarised 
as:-

(a) The Scheme is considered overall to have a positive impact on the local population;

(b) Mechanisms built into the delivery of the Scheme mitigate the potential for negative 
impacts, particularly on low income groups;

(c) The provision of community recreation and leisure facilities at an early stage in the 
Scheme are considered positive in their impact on residents, providing tangible evidence 
of progress. 

(d) The re-provision of open space will be positive in terms of its potential impact on the 
health and future wellbeing of residents.

(e) Proposals in respect of employment and training are considered to have the potential for 
positive impact.

(f) The consultation underpinning the Scheme has been extensive and intensive.

6.13 Consideration as to the Council’s equality duty has formed an integral part of the evolution of 
the Scheme and Officers are satisfied that proportionate steps have been taken to comply 
with its duty in this regard.

Human Rights Act 

6.14 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits public authorities from acting in a way 
which is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights.  The parts of the 
Convention rights which should be considered in the course of the making of the Order and 
leading up to the confirmation of the Order Article 1 of the First Protocol and Articles 6 and 8 
of the Convention.

Page 24



Sheerwater Regeneration

6.15 Article 1 of the First Protocol of the Convention provides that:

Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions. No 
one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest and subject to the 
conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of international law.

The preceding provisions shall not, however, in any way impair the right of a State to 
enforce such laws as it deems necessary to control the use of property in accordance with 
the general interest.

If confirmed by the Secretary of State, the Order will affect the Article 1 rights of the present 
leaseholders/occupiers resident within the Order Land. However, there will be no violation of 
those rights where the steps taken are in the public interest and are lawful, as is required by 
Article 1 of the First Protocol (above) and Article 8 of the Convention (below).

6.16 Article 6 of the Convention provides that:-

In the determination of his civil rights and obligations......everyone is entitled to a fair and 
public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and impartial tribunal 
established by law.

The Order proposals have been extensively publicised and consultation has taken place with 
the communities that will be affected by the Order.  All those affected by the Order will be 
notified of its making and have the opportunity to make objections to the Order and to be 
heard at a public inquiry before a decision is made on whether or not the Order should be 
confirmed by the Secretary of State.  Those persons directly affected by the Order will also 
be entitled to compensation proportionate to any losses that they may incur as a result of any 
compulsory acquisition made pursuant to the Order.

6.17 Article 8 of the Convention provides that:

Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 
correspondence.

There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except 
such as is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society in the 
interests of national security, public safety or the economic well-being of the country, for 
the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of heath or morals, or for the 
protection of the rights and freedom of others.

Article 8(1) is a qualified right and interference with it may be justified in appropriate cases by 
reference to Article 8(2).

6.18 If made, the Order will be made pursuant to section 226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act which 
authorises the Council to acquire land compulsorily subject to procedures laid down in the 
1981 Act.  To justify interference with the above rights, the Council must consider that there 
is a compelling case in the public interest such that if the Order Land is acquired the public 
benefit will outweigh the private loss arising from that acquisition.  Further, interference with 
Convention rights must be proportionate and justified in the public interest.

6.19 In preparing this Report, Officers have carefully considered the balance to be struck between 
individual rights and the wider public interest and consider that, to the extent that the Order 
would affect those individual rights, the proposed interference with them would be in 
accordance with the law, necessary in the public interest and proportionate.  Appropriate 
compensation will be made available to those entitled to claim it under the relevant provisions 
of the statutory Compensation Code.

Page 25



Sheerwater Regeneration

6.20 It is therefore considered that the Scheme and the Order will not unduly infringe the rights of 
individuals which are provided by the European Convention on Human Rights.

Safeguarding

6.21 None, directly arising from this report.

7.0 Conclusions

7.1 This report provides the Council with the ability to complete the authorisations for the 
implementation of the Sheerwater Regeneration project.  There will still be much work to do 
in securing all the remaining property interests, relocating tenants, and securing contract 
prices within the budgets.  Regular updates will be provided to the Project Board and, if 
necessary, Council should there be any significant variations from the delivery proposals set 
out in this report.

REPORT ENDS

Page 26



APPENDIX 1

SHEERWATER SUPPORTING FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Table 1 – Total Cost of Development

TOTAL COST OF DEVELOPMENT    £ 
 Synergy programme Costs (including Pre-budget cost) 411,658,145
 Land Acquisition costs  70,101,332
 Non-Synergy Development Costs 8,128,786
 Sales & Marketing Costs 1,768,760
 TOTAL Development Costs  491,657,023

Table 2 – Summary of Synergy Development Cost Plan 

Development cost plan  £
Construction cost 356,260,501
Provision for Contingencies 7,701,371
Allowance for inflation 28,054,385
Synergy professional fees inc pre-planning 10,940,127
Other Professional fees 8,701,762
TOTAL  411,658,145

Table 3  – Additional Development Costs

Additional Development Costs  £ 

 Professional fees (Sewer & Power lines) 177,132
 CIL 3,626,500
 SAMM 594,586
 Gas main diversion  176,478
 Temporary Access- Highways 125,000
 Temporary Access- Drainage 125,000
 Highways (Say s278) 250,000
 Legal Cost - EY model 200,000
 Asbestos Removal  1,037,497
 Staff cost  1,816,592
 TOTAL 8,128,786

Page 27



APPENDIX 1

Table 4 – Land Acquisition Costs

Details Woking BC
Woking 
BC not 

HRA

Woking 
BC 

already 
staircase 
to 100%

Woking 
BC/Private 

Shared 
Ownership

Housing 
Association

Birch& 
Pines 
Pub 

Commercial 
properties £'s/units

Number of 
properties/Units 381 9 4 8 42 1 24 469

Disturbance 
Allowance/Home loss 2,014,000 47,700 21,200 42,400 137,800 - - 2,263,100
Compensation 1,024,400 29,150 13,700 76,600 91,400 - - 1,235,250
Packing and moving cost 167,700 4,657 2,075 - - - - 174,432

HRA Stock Valuation/Other 
cost 8,080,000 - - - 9,078,281 231,924 22,280,785

Properties acquired by 
WBC - Long time ago /SO - 2,260,000 341,603 - - - - 2,601,603

Market value of share % to 
be agreed with WBC - - - 1,471,000 - - - 1,471,000

Market value of share % 
own privately - - - 766,000 - - - 766,000
Total to be paid 11,286,100 2,341,507 378,578 2,356,000 9,307,481 231,924 - 25,901,590

Private Ownership        126

Estimate cost of purchase        
   

36,027,574 

17.5 % compensation        
      

5,949,209 

SDLT to be paid        
      

1,887,119 

Solicitors fees        
           

284,600

Valuation fees  
              

51,240

Total to be paid        
   

44,199,742

LAND ACQUISITION                                  70,101,332

Table 5 – New properties for Sale/Rent

No of 
Properties

Proportion of 
total

Social Rent            439 38%
Affordable Rent 84 7%
Open Market Sales 373 33%
Open Market Rent 246 22%
TOTAL 1142 100%

Page 28



APPENDIX 1
Sheerwater Model Financing Summary Dashboard

Base Sheerwater Model  SUB5 V13 BASE
Dashboard_1

All checks are OK and Negative cash balance alert - THL and There are no inputs in the Unit Flex Tab

Summary of key metrics (Forecast - ALL PHASES)

TDL

Summary Units Forecast Budget Variance Sources & Uses Units Actuals Budget Variance

Open Market Sales £'000 176,876 176,876 - Sources
THL Sales £'000 310,850 310,850 -
Other Income £'000 17,384 17,384 -
Total Income £'000 505,109 505,109 - Total Revenue £'000 505,109 505,109 -

Development Loan 1 - Drawdown £'000 201,087 201,087 -
Development Costs £'000 470,882 470,882 - Development Loan 2 - Drawdown £'000 - - -
Infrastructure Costs £'000 20,774 20,774 - Interest on Cash £'000 39 39 -
Total Costs £'000 491,656 491,656 - Total Sources £'000 706,236 706,236 -

Total Interest Charge £'000 8,925 8,925 -
Total Arrangement Fee £'000 - - - Uses
Total Financing Costs £'000 8,925 8,925 -

Total Costs £'000 491,656 491,656 -
Interest on Cash £'000 39 39 - Interest Loan 1 £'000 8,925 8,925 -

Interest Loan 2 £'000 - - -
Grant paid to THL £'000 - - - Repayment Loan 1 £'000 201,087 201,087 -
Distribution 1 £'000 - - - Repayment Loan 2 £'000 - - -
Distribution 2 £'000 - - - Arrangement Fee £'000 - - -
Total Distribution £'000 - - - Grant & Distributions £'000 - - -

Total Uses £'000 701,669 701,669 -
Net Loan £'000 - - -
Closing Cash Balance in TDL £'000 4,567 4,567 - Closing Cash Balance in TDL £'000 4,567 4,567 -

Closing Cash Balance Check OK OK Closing Cash Balance Check OK OK

THL

Summary Units Actuals Budget Variance Sources & Uses Units Actuals Budget Variance

Rental Revenue £'000 1,219,855 1,219,855 - Sources
Grant Received from TDL £'000 - - -
Total Income £'000 1,219,855 1,219,855 - Total Revenue £'000 1,219,855 1,219,855 -

Operating Loan 1 - Drawdown £'000 289,449 289,449 -
THL Units Bought Costs £'000 310,850 310,850 - Operating Loan 2 - Drawdown £'000 289,449 289,449 -
Operating Costs £'000 240,835 240,835 - Share Capital £'000 1 1 -
Total Costs £'000 551,685 551,685 - Interest on Cash £'000 (95,482) (95,482) -

Total Sources £'000 1,703,272 1,703,272 -
Total Interest Charge £'000 395,537 395,537 -
Total Financing Costs £'000 395,537 395,537 - Uses

Interest on Cash £'000 (95,482) (95,482) - Total Costs £'000 551,685 551,685 -
Interest Loan 1 £'000 15,075 15,075 -

Equity Injected £'000 1 1 - Interest Loan 2 £'000 380,463 380,463 -
Closing Cash Balance in THL £'000 177,151 177,151 - Repayment Loan 1 £'000 289,449 289,449 -

Repayment Loan 2 £'000 289,449 289,449 -
Closing Cash Balance Check OK OK Total Uses £'000 1,526,121 1,526,121 -

Closing Cash Balance in THL £'000 177,151 177,151 -

Closing Cash Balance Check OK OK

Financing MacroNavigate

P
age 29



APPENDIX 1

Source of Funding
Peak Debt 

£’000 Peak Debt Date

Development Loan 1 (TDL) 115,432 31-Dec-21
Operating Loan 1 (THL during construction) 268,308 30-Sep-24
Operating Loan 2 (THL on completion) 289,449 31-Dec-24
Total Debt 314,081 30-Sep-24
  
THL Negative Cash 115,632 30-Sep-55
THL Net Debt 347,370 30-Sep-46
    

THL Debt Balance

30
-S

ep
-1

9
30

-S
ep

-2
0

30
-S

ep
-2

1
30

-S
ep

-2
2

30
-S

ep
-2

3
30

-S
ep

-2
4

30
-S

ep
-2

5
30

-S
ep

-2
6

30
-S

ep
-2

7
30

-S
ep

-2
8

30
-S

ep
-2

9
30

-S
ep

-3
0

30
-S

ep
-3

1
30

-S
ep

-3
2

30
-S

ep
-3

3
30

-S
ep

-3
4

30
-S

ep
-3

5
30

-S
ep

-3
6

30
-S

ep
-3

7
30

-S
ep

-3
8

30
-S

ep
-3

9
30

-S
ep

-4
0

30
-S

ep
-4

1
30

-S
ep

-4
2

30
-S

ep
-4

3
30

-S
ep

-4
4

30
-S

ep
-4

5
30

-S
ep

-4
6

30
-S

ep
-4

7
30

-S
ep

-4
8

30
-S

ep
-4

9
30

-S
ep

-5
0

30
-S

ep
-5

1
30

-S
ep

-5
2

30
-S

ep
-5

3
30

-S
ep

-5
4

30
-S

ep
-5

5
30

-S
ep

-5
6

30
-S

ep
-5

7
30

-S
ep

-5
8

30
-S

ep
-5

9
30

-S
ep

-6
0

30
-S

ep
-6

1
30

-S
ep

-6
2

30
-S

ep
-6

3
30

-S
ep

-6
4

30
-S

ep
-6

5
30

-S
ep

-6
6

30
-S

ep
-6

7
30

-S
ep

-6
8

30
-S

ep
-6

9
30

-S
ep

-7
0

30
-S

ep
-7

1
30

-S
ep

-7
2

30
-S

ep
-7

3
30

-S
ep

-7
4

30
-S

ep
-7

5
30

-S
ep

-7
6

30
-S

ep
-7

7
30

-S
ep

-7
8

-300,000

-200,000

-100,000

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000
Total debt (Loans)

THL Net Debt Max

Period

De
bt 

(£
 00

0s
)

P
age 30



APPENDIX 1
THL Cash Balance

30
-S

ep
-1

9
30

-S
ep

-2
0

30
-S

ep
-2

1
30

-S
ep

-2
2

30
-S

ep
-2

3
30

-S
ep

-2
4

30
-S

ep
-2

5
30

-S
ep

-2
6

30
-S

ep
-2

7
30

-S
ep

-2
8

30
-S

ep
-2

9
30

-S
ep

-3
0

30
-S

ep
-3

1
30

-S
ep

-3
2

30
-S

ep
-3

3
30

-S
ep

-3
4

30
-S

ep
-3

5
30

-S
ep

-3
6

30
-S

ep
-3

7
30

-S
ep

-3
8

30
-S

ep
-3

9
30

-S
ep

-4
0

30
-S

ep
-4

1
30

-S
ep

-4
2

30
-S

ep
-4

3
30

-S
ep

-4
4

30
-S

ep
-4

5
30

-S
ep

-4
6

30
-S

ep
-4

7
30

-S
ep

-4
8

30
-S

ep
-4

9
30

-S
ep

-5
0

30
-S

ep
-5

1
30

-S
ep

-5
2

30
-S

ep
-5

3
30

-S
ep

-5
4

30
-S

ep
-5

5
30

-S
ep

-5
6

30
-S

ep
-5

7
30

-S
ep

-5
8

30
-S

ep
-5

9
30

-S
ep

-6
0

30
-S

ep
-6

1
30

-S
ep

-6
2

30
-S

ep
-6

3
30

-S
ep

-6
4

30
-S

ep
-6

5
30

-S
ep

-6
6

30
-S

ep
-6

7
30

-S
ep

-6
8

30
-S

ep
-6

9
30

-S
ep

-7
0

30
-S

ep
-7

1
30

-S
ep

-7
2

30
-S

ep
-7

3
30

-S
ep

-7
4

30
-S

ep
-7

5
30

-S
ep

-7
6

30
-S

ep
-7

7
30

-S
ep

-7
8

-150,000

-100,000

-50,000

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

THL Cash Balance

THL Cash Balance

Period

Ca
sh

 B
ala

nc
e (

£ 0
00

s)

Sensitivity Analysis

Scenario Sensitivity Summary
TDL THL

BASE Sheerwater Model 4,567 177,150 347,370 Sep-46

0.50% increase on all Interest rates 3,943 -142,588 434,315 Sep-55
0.5% reduction in Rental inflation (from 3% to 2.5%) All Rents 4,567 -185,251 386,823 Sep-55
0.5% Increase in interest rates and 0.5% reduction in Rental inflation 3,934 -527,171 527,171 Sep-78

Closing Cash (£ 000) Peak Debt (£000)
THL

P
age 31



APPENDIX 1

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecasts – February 2020

P
age 32



1

ADDENDUM TO REPORT DAVITT JONES BOULD

1. GENERAL STATEMENT

The purpose of seeking to acquire the Order Land compulsorily is to facilitate its comprehensive 
redevelopment and to deliver the Scheme in full. The Scheme has been identified by the Council as 
the best means by which to meet the Council's adopted strategic planning objectives for the 
regeneration of Sheerwater1.  The role of the Order Land is identified in the Council's planning policy 
documents and its regeneration is a necessary and vital part of this plan. 

Compulsory purchase of the requisite land is considered essential to enable the Scheme to be fully 
implemented and for the Council to achieve its policy objectives within a reasonable timescale. It is 
also considered that there is a compelling case in the public interest for making the Order. 
Consequently it is considered appropriate for the Council to make the Order to secure the outstanding 
interests required to facilitate implementation of the Scheme.

     

2. BACKGROUND, THE NEED FOR REGENERATION AND THE SCHEME, 

Background to Regeneration Plans for Sheerwater

The Sheerwater area has long been identified as being in need of major capital investment having 
been predominantly built during the 1950s by the former London County Council as housing for areas 
of London damaged in World War 2. The Sheerwater area contains a large number of smaller houses, 
representing the Council’s largest single stock of smaller social housing. Much of the housing within 
the Order Land is in poor condition and is ill suited to the needs of existing residents. The existing 
public open spaces are poor, unattractive, lack sufficient play facilities and feel unsafe due to them 
having limited opportunities for passing surveillance.  The Council has carried out significant public 
consultation with residents concerning the condition of housing and open space within the Order Land 
and its impact on their day to day lives. The outcome of such consultation (as previously provided to 
the Council) reinforces the view that there is a need for comprehensive redevelopment of the area. 

The Borough of Woking is generally relatively affluent, but with pockets of extreme deprivation, one of 
which includes Sheerwater and the Order Land. The Sheerwater area is typically characterised by 
poor housing conditions and issues of deprivation when assessed against Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation including Income deprivation (ranking the worst in Surrey), Health deprivation and 
disability (ranking the worst in Surrey), Education, skills and training (ranking 4th worst in Surrey and 
below average within Surrey, Woking and nationally) and Employment deprivation (ranking the worst 
in Surrey). Large parts of the Order Land are ranked among the 20% most deprived neighbourhoods 
in the country. The area is characterized by low incomes, high unemployment, low educational 
attainment, poor health, and high incidence of crime and fear of crime. Sheerwater has been identified 
as a “Priority Place” by the Council and Surrey County Council and its designation means that the 
resources of the Council and its partners are targeted at addressing the issues faced within the area 
through a range of measures and initiatives. The Council has approved a Priority Places Action Plan 
to set out how and where those targeted resources are best deployed. 

It has long been considered that physical regeneration of the Sheerwater area had the potential to 
deliver transformational change and the Scheme intends to create a new sustainable place to live and 
work, stimulating the regeneration of the Sheerwater area. The Council initially appointed New Vision 
Homes (its housing management partner at the time) in mid-2013 to develop a masterplan for the 
regeneration of Sheerwater. This initial masterplan was developed with residents, local stakeholders 
and the Council. The current Sheerwater Masterplan was submitted and approved in connection with 
the 2019 Permission and this built upon that initial work, reflecting the evolution of the Scheme.

The Scheme seeks to address the decline in the physical fabric of the Order Land and capitalise on 
opportunities for developing and stimulating wider social and economic benefits. The Scheme 

1 Sheerwater is located in the north east of the District (and referred to by that name throughout this Report, 
notwithstanding that it is now known as the Canalside Ward).  

Page 33



2

proposes a sustainable and deliverable package of physical redevelopment through the phased 
delivery of new housing, associated development and infrastructure. The Scheme will help to deliver 
a thriving, balanced and sustainable community for the future.

The regeneration proposals that are the subject of the CPO will deliver:-

 high quality new homes and first class community, leisure and retail facilities within a green 
and healthy environment;

 modern, energy efficient homes that are economic to maintain and flexible enough to satisfy 
diverse and changing needs; 

 economic benefits for local people and businesses, both during the construction phases (the 
use of a Local Labour Agreement creating local employment opportunities and retaining 
expenditure within the local supply chain) and once completed (with new jobs and training 
opportunities);

 improved access to services, including healthcare and community facilities through a new 
local centre that will provide convenient access to everyday shops, services and community 
facilities;

 significant improvements to the quality of public open space;
 enhanced recreation facilities with a new leisure centre, sports pitches and play facilities for 

children and young people;
 improvements to public realm and public transport provision through the carrying out of road 

widening and providing space for the installation of bus stops through the central spine of 
the proposed Scheme (improving upon the current route for public transport); 

 improvements to cycle transport routes separating them from the highways within the 
Scheme to allow free and safe cycle routes and access within the Scheme; 

 improvements to parking provision and public realm to create an accessible environment;
 a safe environment where natural surveillance is intrinsic and where direct routes across the 

Order Land are provided to enable access to neighbouring communities, retail and 
commercial facilities.

  
The phased programme of delivery has been designed with 5 priorities in mind:-

(1) Minimising disruption for residents. The phased design seeks to maximise the opportunity for 
residents within the Order land to buy or move into a new property within the Sheerwater area 
before their property is required for demolition in connection with the Scheme. The phasing also 
seeks to ensure that, as far as possible, existing properties and buildings are not demolished until 
re-provision is complete

(2) Preserving continuity of service for community facilities. The design ensures that the new 
community facilities being delivered by the Scheme are open and available for use before any 
existing community facilities are closed for demolition.

(3) Delivering effective sustainable drainage systems (SUDs) across the Scheme as a whole. Each 
phase has been modelled in detail with drainage and flooding in mind to ensure that no phase 
adversely affects any other, nor the wider Sheerwater area.

(4) Maintaining open space and green space provision and accessibility. The design seeks to ensure 
that the new open space, green space and leisure space within the Scheme is re-provided before 
any existing open space, green space and leisure space is removed.

(5) Preserving the wider property market viability. The design takes account of local market 
conditions and the potential for the Scheme to saturate the local housing market.

The Order Land

The Order Land makes up some 29.94 ha of land lying within the Sheerwater area, a large proportion 
of which is owned by the Council. A plan showing the land owned by the Council is attached to this 
Report.

 
In considering the boundary of the Order Land, Officers have balanced competing priorities, seeking 
to deliver the most efficient scheme with the maximum benefit to the local community, while attempting 
to minimise the interference with private property interests. Officers have considered site acquisition, 
land assembly and development costs and considered the extent of third party interests required to 
deliver the Scheme in defining an optimum boundary for the Order Land. As part of the process leading 
to the Planning Permission, the boundary of the Order Land has been re-drawn to remove the need to 

Page 34



3

demolish four properties along Devonshire Avenue. 

The Order Land is located entirely within the area covered by the Sheerwater Masterplan. The primary 
land use within the Order Land is residential, with 573 residential units lying inside the boundary of the 
Order Land. The northern part of the Order Land is made up of Sheerwater Recreation Ground, Woking 
Athletics Club and David Bishop Brown School playing fields. The majority of buildings in the area are 
two storey, with the local centre defined by a four storey mixed use block and surrounding three storey 
residential blocks. The Order Land includes a parade of shops containing convenience stores and food 
outlets, a post office, hairdresser and small retailers. The Order Land encompasses a number of 
community and recreation buildings, including Sheerwater Health Centre, Waterside Dental Centre, a 
nursery, Woking Children’s Centre, Parkview Centre for the Community, Birch and Pines Public House 
(now demolished), and facilities for Woking Athletics Club and Sheerwater Football Club.  

Sheerwater Recreation Ground is registered as an Asset of Community Value under the provisions of 
the Localism Act 2011. Notwithstanding this designation, Officers remain of the view that the 
compelling public interest in the Scheme (set out in this Report), justify the use of compulsory purchase 
powers and the inclusion of the Sheerwater Recreation Ground within the Order Land. 

The Order Land includes a number of areas of open space, as shown on the Order Map. The design 
and provision of sufficient areas of high quality open space and public realm has been an integral part 
of the Scheme from its inception and the Scheme will deliver significantly enhanced open space, both 
in terms of its quality and design and its accessibility and availability to the residents of Sheerwater.

31-33 Dartmouth Avenue benefits from a temporary planning permission authorising a change of use 
from a butcher’s shop to a place of worship (specifically, a Mosque), that includes 2 prayer halls and 
associated facilities. Officers have consulted with the Sheerwater Muslim Education and Welfare Trust 
regarding the services provided from this site and the need for such a site within the local area. This 
has identified the need for a replacement site within close proximity to the residents of Sheerwater and 
the Council is re-providing facilities for a Mosque within Sheerwater with the intention being that the 
new facility should be available before the closure of the current one.

Further detail of the Scheme

This section of the Report provides detail as to the nature of the Scheme

The Scheme has been designed to:-

 Build upon the strengths (and address the weaknesses) of the existing natural and built 
environment;

 Provide sustainable mixed use development that will reinforce Sheerwater as a place to live 
and work;

 Provide accessible community facilities and services at the heart of Sheerwater to increase 
vibrancy and vitality and increase long term economic sustainability;

 Provide a wider range of property sizes, types and tenures to create a more varied housing 
offer and address the need for specialist accommodation;

 Create a distinctive urban environment by the use of high quality design solutions;
 Promote energy efficiency and the efficient use of resources;
 Improve connectivity within Sheerwater and with the wider areas of Woking Town Centre 

and West Byfleet;
 Encourage walking, cycling and the use of public transport;
 Improve the design, access and use of areas of open space and ensure that the public realm 

is safe, accessible and of a high quality; and
 Create enhanced education, training and employment opportunities for local people.
 

As both Local Planning Authority for the area in which the Order Land is situated, the majority 
landowner of the Order Land and the proposed acquiring authority under the Order, the Council was 
unable to enter into a Planning Agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. However, the Council has resolved to give effect to a number of “Executive Obligations” that 
take the place of planning obligations. These include:-

 Obligations relating to the provision of Affordable Housing as part of the Scheme, including 

Page 35



4

the number of units to be provided overall and on a phase by phase basis, the size and tenure 
make up of such units and the ownership of such units;

 Obligations in connection with the implementation of a local labour agreement;
 Obligations in respect of off site tree planting; and 
 Obligations in respect of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems.

 
Overall, the Scheme delivers residential development that is mixed in tenure with a balance between 
market and affordable tenures.

The following are additional key features of the Scheme

 All new affordable dwellings will meet Lifetime Homes standards and will be designed to 
comply with Building Regulations Approved Document Part M(4) category 2.

 The specialist residential accommodation will include self-contained units with communal 
facilities where residents can interact with the wider community and address the changing 
needs of the local population.

 The Health Centre will include a dentist, surgery and pharmacy, located in close proximity to 
the specialist residential accommodation. 
 

 The Community and Youth Centre will provide a community centre located adjacent to a 
skate/BMX track and a multi use games area overlooking a central linear park. The Nursery 
and Children’s Centre will be located adjacent to this building.
 

 The Retail Units are identified as comprising 1845 sqm of flexible retail space and have been 
designed to complement the nearby ASDA Superstore and nearby retail facilities. The precise 
details will come forward as a reserved matters application as the Scheme progresses. 
 

 The design of landscaping and public realm has been an integral part of the Sheerwater 
Masterplan. To address deficiencies in the current public open space, a range of different 
types and areas of public open space have been incorporated within the Scheme.  

 The Scheme redistributes the existing publicly accessible open space, improves the quality of 
the open space provision and increases their catchment areas to ensure the widest possible 
use can be made of them. The public open space being provided by the Scheme will be of a 
much higher quality and value, with natural surveillance and good accessibility built in as 
fundamental tenets of its design. The Council has commissioned a report into the open space 
proposed as part of the Scheme, to assess the existing open space within Sheerwater against 
the proposed provision once the Scheme is implemented. The conclusions of this report 
include:-

o The combined indoor and outdoor sporting provision will be significantly improved in 
terms of provision and quality through the development of a new high quality leisure 
centre and new 3G pitches. There will also be an updating of existing playing pitches 
at the Bishop David Brown school through the introduction of improved drainage, 
landscaping and maintenance

o The existing Borough athletics ground, which was not publicly accessible, has been 
re-provided elsewhere in Woking

o The new sporting provision was supported by Sports England as part of the planning 
process

o The quantum of parks and gardens are improved both in terms of quantity and quality 
over the existing range. The location is to be moved to a more central position in 
Sheerwater, which will benefit new and existing residents

o The quantum and quality of play areas is going to be significantly enhanced

 The Order Land includes the Sheerwater Recreation Ground and Athletics Track. As part of 
the Scheme, both facilities are being redeveloped. To account for these areas being removed 
from the Order Land, they are to be re-provided by the Council as part of the Scheme. The 
Council has delivered “The Hoe Valley School and Recreation Centre” Project, a Council led 

Page 36



5

initiative with financial support from the Education Funding Agency. The project includes an 
eight lane all weather track, areas for track and field sports and two grass sports pitches as 
well as three all weather 5 a side football pitches, two multi use games areas and an indoor 
leisure centre providing a sports hall, gym and studios with changing facilities. The re-provided 
facilities created as part of this project will represent significantly enhanced recreation and 
sports facilities when compared to the existing Sheerwater Recreation Ground and Athletics 
Track. The sports clubs that previously made use of facilities within the Order Land (and 
specifically Sheerwater Recreation Ground) have all successfully relocated to this site, or have 
been accommodated elsewhere. In particular, Sheerwater Football Club has relocated 
temporarily to shared facilities with Woking Football Club under an arrangement brokered and 
funded by the Council. The junior football teams are now using facilities at Hoe Valley School. 
The Athletics Club has also successfully relocated to the Hoe Valley School site and 
indications are that subscribers to the club have increased since the relocation.
 

 The new Leisure Centre to be provided as part of the Scheme will be a two storey community 
leisure centre, designed in consultation with all relevant bodies (including the Bishop David 
Brown Secondary School, Surrey County Council Education Department, Sport England and 
Sheerwater Football Club). The Leisure Centre will contain:-

o A 5 court sports hall and changing facilities
o A 6 lane (25mx13m) swimming pool with spectator seats and a 13mx10m learner pool
o Shared changing village for both pools
o 2 studio rooms with partitions for flexible use of space
o 80 station gym/fitness suite
o A function room
o Sports hall with dining and catering facilities 
o 4 changing rooms to service outdoor pitches
o 1 3G all weather football pitch
o Markings for 2 junior/5 a side football pitches
o An U16 grass football pitch and an U13/14 grass football pitch
o A grass rugby pitch
o Markings for a 200m grass running track
o A cricket square with artificial wicket and 2 practice nets
o Access to the 6 existing tennis courts.

A community use agreement will be put in place to ensure the leisure facilities can be shared 
between relevant users (including local Schools, Community Groups and Local Sports Clubs) 
and this is a Condition of the Planning Permission.
 

 Where relevant, all facilities will be supported by appropriate car parking in compliance with 
the Councils Parking Standards Supplemental Planning Document.

3. THE PLANNING POSITION

The Scheme is considered compliant with all relevant National, Regional and Local Planning Policies 
and has the benefit of the Planning Permission. 

National Planning Policy

The NPPF promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable development and recognises three 
dimensions of this – economic, social and environmental. Local authorities are encouraged to maintain 
an up-to-date development plan and the NPPF provides that planning applications in accordance with 
the development plan should be determined positively without delay. The most relevant policies of the 
NPPF to the Scheme are: achieving sustainable development;  delivering a sufficient supply of homes; 
building a strong, competitive economy; promoting healthy and safe communities, promoting 
sustainable transport; making effective use of land; and achieving well-designed places. Officers 
consider the Scheme compliant with the NPPF.

Regional Planning Policy 

Page 37



6

Surrey County Council’s SSPP forms part of the evidence base for the Core Strategy and sets out ten 
priorities, including:-

 To improve learning, health and employment outcomes for children and young people, 
particularly the vulnerable and disadvantaged;

 To promote healthy lifestyles, particularly targeting groups and communities at most risk;
 To help people in Surrey to achieve more sustainable lifestyles; 
 To achieve better standard of development to deliver more social, environmental and 

economically sustainable benefits.

With regard to Priority Places, the SSPP states that “some action plans will be focused around specific 
regions, areas and neighbourhoods, especially those where the work of several partnerships would 
need to be co-ordinated.” Sheerwater is identified as one of four areas in Surrey that are in the most 
deprived 25% of areas in England. Sheerwater is therefore identified as having specific concerns for 
all delivery partnerships around skills, employment, health, crime, housing and safeguarding children 
and young people. The SSPP is an overarching policy document, but where relevant, the Scheme 
supports the objectives and addresses the concerns and challenges identified within it. 

The Order Land is also covered by a saved policy from the Regional Spatial Strategy for the South 
East, Policy NRM6: Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area. This policy requires that new 
residential development likely to have a significant effect on the ecological integrity of Thames Basin 
Heaths Special Protection Area will be required to demonstrate that adequate measures are put in 
place to avoid or mitigate any potential adverse effects. The Scheme is considered to comply with this 
policy.

Local Planning Policy

The Council adopted its Core Strategy on 25th October 2012. The principal purpose of this document 
is to “facilitate the delivery of a Borough of high environmental quality and standards where people 
choose to live, work and visit, an exemplar in the achievement of sustainable growth”. The following 
are the key policies from the Core Strategy that the Scheme contributes towards/is in compliance with:-

Core Strategy Policy CS1 – A Spatial Strategy for Woking Borough. The Council’s Strategy 
is to deliver 4,964 net additional dwellings, with an overall affordable housing provision target of 
35%, as well as additional office, warehousing and retail floor space. The Sheerwater area is 
identified as a Priority Place “for specific actions to address pockets of deprivation”. The Council 
will target specific types of development to address the underlying causes of deprivation in those 
areas designated as Priority Places.

Core Strategy Policy CS5 – Priority Places. The Council will work with partners to target 
resources to Priority Places, including the ward of Maybury and Sheerwater. The Council will

 Enable the provision of around 250 additional homes in Maybury and Sheerwater to 2027. 
In Sheerwater these homes will primarily be provided by bringing forward land in the 
Council’s ownership for development. 

 Seek to address the current tenure imbalance by requiring new affordable housing dwellings 
to be family homes (2 bedrooms or more) and giving priority to intermediate rent and shared 
ownership tenures.

 Safeguard land within existing employment areas and encourage proposals that create new 
opportunities for local employment within them.

 Promote local labour agreements with developers to enable local people to secure 
employment and skills development.

 Seek to increase the choice of retail offer in Sheerwater and support in principle the 
development of a convenience retail outlet, subject to assessing the full impacts of such 
proposal on the vitality and viability of the Sheerwater local centre.

 Work with partners to achieve this, making use of CPO powers if necessary. Protect the 
vitality of the Sheerwater local centre to ensure the community has a genuine choice of 
shopping and services. The loss of existing retail units will be resisted in Sheerwater (Note 

Page 38



7

– it is acknowledged that the Scheme does not comply with this part of Policy CS5 relating 
to the loss of existing retail units. Nevertheless, taken as a whole, the Scheme is considered 
compliant with Policy CS5).

 Seek to improve the image of Sheerwater by promoting high quality design of public realm, 
the enhancement of open spaces and public amenity areas. Proposals will be expected to 
have built in natural surveillance that designs out crime and fear of crime, creates direct, safe 
routes to neighbouring communities and nearby retail and commercial facilities and provides 
a safe environment.

 Channel developer contributions to deliver infrastructure in line with relevant policies of the 
Core Strategy. 

 Work with Surrey County Council and public transport providers to improve bus services, 
existing cycle networks and provide secure cycle parking facilities. In addition, to assess the 
role of parking provision to increase trade and protect businesses and promote investment 
in a local community transport scheme to increase access to services. 

 Use its CPO powers and other means to assist with site assembly where it is necessary to 
do so.

The Scheme has been planned and designed to contribute towards the objectives of Policy CS5. 
Policy CS5 also clearly envisages that in order to deliver its policy objectives, the Council may 
have need of CPO powers to assemble the necessary land.

Core Strategy Policy CS10 – Housing Provision and distribution. The Council will make 
provision for at least 4,964 net additional dwellings in the Borough to 2027. Within Policy CS5, 
reference is made to the intention that, within the Sheerwater area, new homes will primarily be 
provided by bringing forward land in the Council’s ownership for redevelopment, which includes 
the Order Land.

Core Strategy Policy CS11 – Housing Mix. The Scheme includes the delivery of a wide range 
of types of homes by tenure, unit size and for particular needs. This also includes a proportion of 
larger family sized homes.

Core Strategy Policy CS12 – Affordable Housing. The majority of the Order Land is within 
public ownership and therefore, while the Scheme provides affordable housing at 47%, it is not 
considered fully compliant with Policy CS12. However, Policy CS12 does recognise that the 
proportion of affordable housing to be provided by a particular site will take into account a number 
of factors, including in the case of the Scheme, Policy CS5. Taking this into account, the Scheme 
is considered to be compliant with Policies CS5 and CS12. 

Core Strategy Policy CS13 – Older people and vulnerable groups. The Scheme includes an 
Assisted Living Facility and has been designed to meet the needs of local residents in accordance 
with this policy.

Core Strategy Policy CS16 – Infrastructure Delivery. The Scheme attracts both a Community 
Infrastructure Levy Liability as well as Planning Obligations (although since the Council is both 
the major landowner and Local Planning Authority, the Planning Obligations are expressed as 
Executive Obligations, accepted by the Council on 21st July 2016). The burden of discharging 
planning obligations will be passed onto TDL when implementing the Scheme proposals.

Core Strategy Policy CS17 – Open space, green infrastructure, sport and recreation.. The 
Scheme will enhance and improve the public realm, open space and leisure facilities within the 
Order Land and the Sheerwater area and the Scheme has been designed in compliance with this 
policy objective.

Core Strategy Policy CS18 – Transport and accessibility. The existing highway network and 
access routes in and around the Order Land will be improved and enhanced as part of the 
Scheme. These include the provision of a network of streets that will encourage pedestrian 
movements and that will enhance the environment for all. In addition, cycle routes accessing 
Basingstoke Canal have been included to encourage car free access to the town centre and 
nearby railway.

Page 39



8

Core Strategy Policy CS19 – Social and community infrastructure. The Scheme will deliver 
improved and enlarged community facilities, with enhanced pedestrian and cycle infrastructure 
as part of an overarching scheme to improve both the quality of and access to social and 
community infrastructure.

Core Strategy Policy CS21 – Design. The Scheme has been designed to comply with this 
policy, incorporating all Council requirements and representing a wholesale improvement to the 
current conditions of the Order Land.

Core Strategy Policy CS22 – Sustainable construction. The Council requires new residential 
development to meet the energy and CO2 and water components of the Code for Sustainable 
Homes Level 5 from 1 April 2016. New non-residential development of 1,000 square metres or 
more is required to comply with BREEAM “very good” standards. The residential units will be 
designed to maximise solar thermal opportunities.

Note: Since the publication of the Core Strategy, a written Ministerial Statement was delivered to 
Parliament (25th March 2015) effectively repealing the Code for Sustainable Homes. Therefore, 
in applying Policy CS22, the Council has modified its approach. The Council considers that the 
Scheme is compliant with Policy CS22 (as now being applied).

Planning Permission

Alongside the planning policy framework in support of the regeneration of the Order Land which is 
outlined above, the Scheme has the benefit of the Planning Permission. The Planning Permission is a 
hybrid planning permission (a combination of the detailed elements of the 2015 Permission and the 
2019 Permission, itself a hybrid planning permission). The Planning Permission operates to provide 
detailed planning consent for the early phases of the Scheme and outline planning consent for the 
Scheme as a whole.  

4. USE OF COMPULSORY PURCHASE POWERS AND BENEFITS OF THE SCHEME

Objectives and the use of Compulsory Purchase Powers

The objective in seeking to make the Order and acquire the Order Land is to assemble in its ownership 
the land and interests included in the Order, so as to continue to facilitate and enable the 
implementation of comprehensive regeneration within Sheerwater, identified as a Priority Place within 
the Council’s Core Strategy. The Order seeks to acquire all estates and interests in the Order Land, 
including rights, easements, the benefit of covenants, rent charges and options in the Order Land, 
except where otherwise expressly stated. The Order Land also includes land in unknown ownership, 
or land reputed to be in unknown ownership, which needs to be compulsorily acquired to facilitate the 
delivery of the Scheme. In considering making the Order, the Council has had regard to the Guidance.

It is proposed that the Council exercises its powers of compulsory purchase to acquire the Order Land, 
under Section 226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act. Section 226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act empowers an acquiring 
authority, on being authorised by the Secretary of State, to acquire compulsorily any land in their area:

(1) if the acquiring authority thinks that the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out of development, 
redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to that land; and

(2) the development, redevelopment or improvement is likely to contribute to the promotion or 
improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of their area.

The power under Section 226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act is intended to provide a positive tool to help 
acquiring authorities to assemble land where this is necessary to implement proposals within its Core 
Strategy or where strong planning justifications exist. Officers are satisfied that the use of the powers 
contained in section 226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act is the most appropriate power available for its purposes 
and will facilitate the carrying out of development, redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to 
the Order Land and that it will contribute to the development, redevelopment or improvement of that 
area, thus meeting the statutory tests. The Scheme will amount to a comprehensive regeneration 
initiative for the Sheerwater Area, complementing the other initiatives being promoted by the Council 

Page 40



9

and its partner agencies.

Benefits of the Scheme within the tests of Section 226(1)(a) of the 1990 Act

The Guidance stipulates that, where a compulsory purchase order is promoted under the provisions 
of section 226 (1)(a) of the 1990 Act, the Secretary of State will take into account the following issues 
when deciding whether to confirm an order:

(1) whether the purpose for which the land is being acquired fits in with the adopted Local 
Plan for the area or, where no such up to date Local Plan exists, with the draft Local Plan 
and the NPPF

As set out in this Report the Scheme benefits from the Planning Permission which grants full 
detailed planning permission for the early phases of the Scheme. The remainder of the Scheme 
benefits from outline planning permission. The Scheme complies with national, regional and local 
planning policies. There are no relevant made or emerging neighbourhood plans. Officers are 
satisfied that the Scheme complies with the strategic objectives of the adopted planning policy 
framework for the area. These proposals will deliver significant economic, social and 
environmental benefits to the area.

 
(2) the extent to which the proposed purpose will contribute to the achievement of the 

promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of the area 

It is considered that the Scheme will facilitate the comprehensive redevelopment of the Order 
Land in a manner which will positively contribute to the improvement of the economic, social and 
environmental wellbeing of the Council’s administrative area.

The benefits that will arise are referred to in Section 2 of this Report and also include:

 Significant physical transformation of the Order Land and surrounding area
 The provision of an additional 569 new dwellings across the Order Land and with the 

Scheme delivering an affordable housing provision of 45.80%
 Increasing the number of new homes, as described above and addressing the current 

tenure imbalance to provide a higher percentage of family homes while aligning the 
housing mix of the Scheme to meet identified local housing need

 The provision of specialist housing for elderly residents, in close proximity to the new 
community facilities

 Improvements to community facilities by the provision of updated facilities for a 
nursery/children’s centre, community/youth centre and health centre

 Improvements to leisure facilities by the provision of a leisure centre and associated 
facilities. The leisure centre will be available for use by nearby schools and will 
contain dining facilities for the Bishop David Brown Secondary School. As such, it 
will support the strategic need for expansion at that School

 Improvements to the public realm, highways and open spaces within the Order Land;
 Fostering a greater sense of community cohesion with enhanced community 

facilities integrated within the development and which are centrally located within the 
Order Land to improve accessibility

 Reduction in barriers to cycle and pedestrian movement in the area
 Improvements to retail facilities in the area
 Provision of infrastructure to enable future public transport providers to use the 

neighbourhood spine, improving accessibility to the wider area
 Improvements to drainage infrastructure and flood mitigation measures
 Removal of overhead electricity pylons (being re-sited below ground) (already 

undertaken)
 The Scheme and wider proposals for Sheerwater will help to transform the status of 

Sheerwater and act as a catalyst for further investment and economic growth and 
unlock the potential for further redevelopment and regeneration of the area

Page 41



10

(3) whether the purpose for which the authority is proposing to acquire the land could be 
achieved by any other means.

The extent of the Order Land has been influenced by a number of factors, including its location, 
surrounding land uses and environmental impacts as well as the Council’s overall objectives for 
the regeneration of Sheerwater. 

 
The Order Land may be capable of piecemeal development with individual areas of land being 
brought forward in isolation, provided satisfactory arrangements for access to serve such 
development could be made. However, the combined approach of using the whole site to secure 
comprehensive development (including highway access) to serve the Scheme is considered to 
yield a significantly better redevelopment outcome for the area.

The logistical challenges of piecemeal development are considered likely to make the overall 
development impractical and non-viable, adding both cost and delay to the process. The extent 
of community infrastructure being provided by the Scheme is, in the Council’s opinion, non-viable 
were the development to come forward in a piecemeal manner. The critical mass of development 
proposed by the Scheme is a key factor in the Scheme’s viability.  It is the Council’s view that a 
comprehensive approach is required to deliver the Scheme and the benefits it will bring.

The Council has, as a result of a number of concerns expressed about the 2015 Permission, 
significantly re-designed the Scheme, resulting in the 2019 Permission. The detailed elements of 
the 2015 Permission sit alongside the 2019 permssion, specifically:-

(a) The provision of ancillary additional space at Bishop David Brown School
(b) The provision of 139 residential units (115 open market and 24 affordable)
(c) The provision of the leisure centre including artificial grass pitch, spectator seating, 

sports amenity lighting and improvements to the playing fields at Bishop David 
Brown School
(d) The creation of improved car parking facilities 
(e) Hard and soft landscaping

And in addition, improves the Scheme by:-

(a) Increasing the amount of open space being delivered
(b) Increasing the amount of car parking available for the new homes being delivered
(c) Introducing three new surface car parks for the community facilities and existing 

schools
(d) Improving the layout of car parking to remove the need to demolish four properties 

along Devonshire Avenue
(e) Altering the location of community facilities to ensure they occupy a central position, 

reflecting their importance to the community
(f) Increasing the number of dwellings being delivered, but aligning the housing mix of 

those dwellings to meet local housing need, while delivering a significant 
proportion of family size dwellings
(g) improving the overall design approach to the Scheme to deliver a high quality 

walkable neighbourhood comprised of different character areas connecting to the 
wider area

The Council has, at all times, listened to comments from its officers, communities and 
stakeholders and demonstrated that it is committed to delivering the best possible outcomes, 
even if that means re-evaluating the nature of the proposed development. 

 
Overall therefore, it is concluded that there is no credible alternative which could deliver a 
comprehensive scheme on the Order Land to meet the planning policy objectives within a 

Page 42



11

reasonable timeframe. The scope for alternative locations is limited by the purposes of the 
Order, which is to facilitate the Scheme in line with the Planning Permission granted for it. 

(4) the potential financial viability of the Scheme (including the timing of any funding, which 
may be important).

The funding position for the Scheme is considered elsewhere within this Report.

5. DELIVERY OF THE SCHEME AND PROGRESS OF VOLUNTARY ACQUISITIONS

Thameswey Companies

Delivery of the Scheme will be undertaken by the Thameswey Group of Companies, a group of 
companies wholly owned by the Council as delivery and investment vehicles. The Council has a 
controlling influence over these Companies with representation on the Board of Directors (with both 
Councillors and officers sitting in Board positions) and as majority shareholder. The two Thameswey 
companies involved in the Scheme are TDL and THL). Given the nature of the two companies and the 
purposes for which they have been incorporated, it is proposed that, in order to effectively deliver the 
Scheme, it is appropriate for the Order Land to be transferred to THL, while the physical delivery of 
the Scheme is carried out by TDL. The affordable housing delivered as part of the Scheme will owned 
by THL and managed by them from completion. 

The benefit of using TDL and THL to deliver the Scheme are that:-

 The Council will retain any development profit within the Borough of Woking;
 The Council will control profit levels to ensure rents for affordable homes remain affordable; and
 TDL can enter into commercial arrangements if it is advantageous to the progress of the Scheme, 

retaining some advantages of private sector involvement while ensuring a degree of control is 
retained by the Council. 

Voluntary Acquisitions, Treatment of Residents and Community Charter

The Order is being proposed to ensure that all the land required for the Scheme can be secured within 
a reasonable timescale, thereby maintaining the affordability and deliverability of the Scheme and of 
the wider regeneration of the Sheerwater area. The Guidance provides that an acquiring authority 
must be able to demonstrate that it has taken reasonable steps to acquire all of the land and rights 
included in an order by agreement. In accordance with that Guidance, the Council has been carrying 
out negotiations with owners of the Order land and entering into negotiations with a view to acquiring 
all of the Order Land by agreement. The Sheerwater Community Charter (referred to below) has been 
one element of those attempts to secure land by negotiation and the Council has been actively 
promoting the use of the Charter by residents within the Order Land.

The Council (whether itself or in the name of THL), owned the majority of the Order Land at the outset 
of this process. However, in respect of those parts of the Order Land not in Council ownership, the 
drive to acquire land by negotiation and the implementation of the Charter has resulted in the Council 
acquiring some 100 properties within the Order Land by negotiation (approximately 80% of the 
properties not already in Council ownership). Contracts for the purchase of 4 further properties have 
been exchanged. A plan showing those interests within the Order Land owned by the Council/THL is 
attached to this report.

As referenced above, a central part of seeking to acquire land by negotiation is the Charter. As a 
central principle, the Charter states that wherever possible, all residents, owners, occupiers and 
tenants who wish to remain within Sheerwater will have the opportunity to do so. The Charter sets out 
the Council’s commitments to occupiers within the Order Land, which the Council believes to be an 
enhanced package of measures beyond that required by statute. The Council has made it clear that 
the Charter applies to negotiated acquisitions agreed before making the Order. Upon making the 
Order, negotiations for further voluntary acquisitions will be based on the statutory regime for 
determining compensation. There are a wide range of commitments contained within the Charter and 
those relevant to the proposed Order and the delivery of the Scheme are as follows:-

Page 43



12

General 

 All occupiers of the Order Land will be given no less than 12 months notice of any requirement 
to vacate their properties.

 Particular assistance will be given to elderly and vulnerable residents to manage any concerns 
they might have and assist them with the process.

 Discussion will be held over timescales and moving and re-housing arrangements, with each 
household’s needs being assessed.

 Advice and assistance will be provided/facilitated as required. A dedicated Housing Support 
Team has been put in place to assist with this.

Freehold/Leasehold Occupiers

 Resident homeowners whose property needs to be acquired will receive market value plus 
17.5% and a right of first refusal to buy a new property built as part of the Scheme. Non-resident 
homeowners whose property needs to be acquired will receive market value plus 17.5%. This 
applies where the ownership pre-dated 3 December 2015.

 The Council will arrange for a valuation of the property being acquired by an accredited 
chartered surveyor.

 Losses caused by virtue of having to transfer a mortgage as part of the move will be subject to 
compensation.

 An assisted purchase scheme will apply where a resident homeowner is required to move and 
cannot afford a new property within those built as part of the Scheme. The Council would take 
a share of the equity in a new property, subject to a cap of 33% of its market value, or £100,000, 
whichever is less. The Council’s share could be bought out, or recovered on subsequent 
disposal of the property.

Shared Ownership Residents

 The Council will offer the opportunity to purchase an equity share of 20% or more in one of the 
new properties built as part of the Scheme.

 The Council will pay the market value of the equity share owned in current properties, plus a home 
loss payment of 10% of that share (from a minimum of £6,400 to a maximum of £64,000).

 Reasonable removal costs and expenses will be paid.
 Reasonable legal and surveying fees will be paid.
 An alternative of compensation is offered, with the residents sourcing alternate accommodation 

in the open market.

New Initiatives

In addition to the commitments set out in the Charter, the Council has sought to implement a system 
of continual improvement, learning from the experiences of residents to deliver an improved package 
of measures and assist residents in relocating from the Order Land. Measures have included:-

 The Council has built up a reserve of properties that could be used to offer residents a “ready 
made” home where they could not find somewhere on the open market. This is entirely voluntary, 
but sought to increase the options available to residents. 

 The Council is implementing a “help to move” service that provides physical assistance to those 
residents who needed it. This has proven sufficiently successful that the Council is considering 
rolling out throughout its administrative area.

 The Council is seeking feedback from those residents who have relocated or engaged with the 
Council to assess where the Council’s involvement can be improved.

 The Council has directly employed a mental health worker to provide support to residents, funded 
through a local charity, Cornerhouse. 

 The Council was made aware of concerns among residents that the Council’s appointed valuer 
may not be fully independent. To address these concerns the Council has made the District Valuer 
service available to residents (both as an option for the valuation of their property and as a second 
opinion to demonstrate transparency on the question of valuation).

Page 44



13

Construction work in respect of the Scheme began on 22nd July 2019, with preliminary works to create 
the Leisure Centre, swimming pool and associated sports facilities. The first phase of residential 
development forming part of the Scheme has also commenced and will deliver 92 residential properties 
once complete. The programme for delivery of the phases within the Scheme provides for a total 
demolition and re-building programme over 76 months from commencement of development and has 
been designed to minimise interference for residents.

Notwithstanding the implementation of the Charter and the drive to acquire interests within the Order 
Land by negotiations, the scale and nature of the Scheme means that there remain interests within the 
Order Land still to be acquired and which are unlikely to be acquired within a reasonable time period 
such that the Order remains necessary to enable the assembly of the Order Land and for the Scheme 
to be delivered with certainty and in a timely fashion.

6. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out in this Report and the accompanying documents, Officers consider there is a 
compelling case in the public interest for the making and confirmation of the Order and that the Order 
comprises a proportionate response to secure those objectives. The need for the comprehensive 
development of the Order Land is acknowledged and supported in the adopted national and local 
planning policy framework. Delivery of the Scheme would fulfil the Council's key planning policy 
objectives for the area and transform the Order Land. It would contribute significantly to the 
improvement of the economic, social and environmental well-being of Sheerwater. 

The Council is confident that there is more than a reasonable prospect of the Scheme proceeding, 
given the commitment to the delivery of the Scheme demonstrated to date, in securing planning 
consent for it, the acquisition of interests by agreement in the Order Land and the steps it is taking to 
deliver the Scheme. The Council also believes that there are no credible alternatives to compulsory 
purchase to achieve the purposes of the Order. It is highly unlikely that all the outstanding interests 
required could be assembled by agreement within a reasonable timescale, if at all. 

Page 45





Version: 1.0

Dated: 27/01/2020

Scale 1:1750 
when printed at A1

DRAFT

MAP REFERRED TO IN THE WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL (SHEERWATER ESTATE) PROPOSED COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 2020
SHOWING WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL & THAMESWEY OWNERSHIP

11

13
10

209

214

199
211

158

197

7

210a

218

216

9
6

5

217

195

208

8

206

4

219

194

3 203

2

210

202

212

215

211

193

158

192

191

1

170

201

189

190

14

30

15

12

184

213

17
31

29
28

1816
27

200

196

198

204

205

207

169

184

188

469

470

415

376

411

417

421

418

420

413

394

429

390

419

428

391

414

392

416

412

393

424

423

395

422

396

397

398

399

400

308
302307

301306
305 279300

309

314

312
313

311
310

389

315

496
497

498

499

500

456

466

458

454

457

465

455

464

460
463

461
462

451

453

219

184

447

452
448

446

459

449

450

183 434

182 220

436

185

180

431186
181 430

373
179

178
171

176
187

177175

372

371

370

375
374

426

425

467

432

441

439

440

442

443

444

437

445

438

433

369
174

427

435

471

472

473

474

475

476
477

478

479

468

480

481

482

484

483
485

486486

487

488

489

490

491

492

493

494

495

153h

155

154

222

171

172

161

167

159

168

173

164

153a

162

165

166

84

156

158

160

163

153i

223

224

225

153a

153g

226

153f

153e

227

221

153c

228

153d

229

153a

230

19
26

20

21 25
22

9

24

23

33

43

42

9 44
45

46

60

40

61

41

47

37

62

83

66
9

58

63

67

82

34

68 80

39

64
65

32
35

70

69

72
73 74

36

38

71

76
77

78

75

79

81

53

57
56

55
54

59
58a

48

49

51

50

52

85

9

9

107

104 409
265

410
98

220
98

108

105

405

106

93

88

88

89

40498

99

100
407

94

95

90

97

409

88

91

403

406

92

96

101

408

503

242

138

141

143 137

153

140

136

157

153b
244

139

243

142

135

130

125

110

126

145

144

146

147

85

148

149

119

109

152

129

122

128

127

123

124

134

86

133

132

131

87

150

151

153a

246
245

121

112

111

247

118

120

113

304 280299
303

281298
401282297

283296

284295

285294

286

274

275
276

277

402

278

273

376

271
270

272

292

231

263
264

293

267

268

262

220

254

261

260

253

269

256
257

266

258

251

290

266

289

250

255

249
288

248
287

259

116

102

117
220

115

103

291

114

252

501

502

220

368

153

367

232

233

231

234

235
236

236

237
238

342

334
333

380

332

336

381

339

331

240

382

241

329

376

340
341

328

383

378

337

384

326

377

325

385

338

386

323

322

327

387

321

320

388

231

319

318

239

335

379

317
316

330

324

353

343

345

344

348

349

347

346

352

351

350

357

356

355

361

360

358

359

363

362

354

364

365

366

18

22

BE
N

TH
AM

 A
VE

NU
E

37

30

70

68

21

11

BATESON  WAY

15

51

9

14

120

37
39

She lte r

2

40

12

7

55

1

LB

2

57

11

82

94

100

98

102

Pa
th

104

El Sub Sta

B
as

ing
st

ok
e  

C
an

a
l

C lub

15

14

33

11

3

5

7

9

11

W
akehurs t Pa th

106

15

12

20

16

BLACKMORE  CRESCENT

108
18

14
110A110

10

6

8

2

4

55

57
57A

114

112A

116

116A

114A
112

6

1

RIVER COURT

Sheerwater Business Centre

6

7

4

CR

El Sub Sta

Woking 8

5

FORSYTH  ROAD

3

Works

El Sub Sta

28

BUNYARD  DR IVE

69

Shelter

C5

11

5

3

11

7

9

1 to 3

El Sub Sta

Anglo House

MP 23

W orks

Tanks

D

G

A3

85

83

Kingswey Business Park

2

ALBERT  DR IVE
Shelter

87

C1

El Sub Sta

A1

Tank

FORSYTH
 RO

AD

37

53

35

53A

51

55A

53A

49

49A

47
49A

41

39

40
Murray Green

10TCB

12

42
43

Car Park ing  Spaces

45A
45

89

87

61A
61

61

61A

67A

63
63A

65

67

71
69A

85

79

81
81A

79A

83A
83

85A

79A

75A
71

75
71A

73A

17
17a

73

8

6

4

46

44

48
50

91

89

ALBERT  DR IVE93

7

5

3

1

3

2

4

109

95

93

91

1
1A

1B

3
3A

3B

5
5A

5B

9
9a

11
11a

Sheerwater

15
15a

1

5
6

8
7

ST LUKES COURT

18
20

7
7A

7B

17
17A

17B

11
11A

11B

88

15
15A

15B

9
9A

9B

DARTMOUTH  AVENUE

3

1

4
5

3
2

4
5

6

7

8

109

W a lk

Heron

Esta te

W oodham  Ha ll

6

11

2

7

11

13

10

12
13

12

15

M
erlinC

ourt

124

122

118
120

3

6
4

5

211

13

12

14

15

1614

14

17

15
16

18
19

20
18

18

19

Posts

19

20

W
OODLA

NDS P
ARK

K INGF ISHER  COURT

21

17

El Sub Sta

21
22

23

2

23

22
1

24

24

25
26

33

29

TH
E

 G
A

TE
W

AY

529

30 28

29

2

27
26

3

Falcon Court
12

25

11

1

Posts

Posts

Posts

35

36

38

Court

Fa lcon

5

37

4

7

6

39

34

15

31.3m

1

527

El Sub Sta

10
9

8

W ard  Bdy

31.2m 509

Drain

517

126

130

130A

128

132

132A

134

134A

6
6A

6B

2
2A

2B

4
4A

4B

19
8
8A

8B

21

25

23

10
10A

10B25

DEVONSH IRE  AVENUE
27

15
4

11
10

8

Posts

9

136

136A 15
2

15
0

138
140

14
8

155 2914
6

153

144

142

W ood lands

149
151

147
147 House

14
14A

14B

97

16
16A

16B

94

98
99

96

12
12A

12B

100

95

91
92

Car Park ing  Spaces

89
90

19
6993 21

111 69A

110 69 2369B

109 69A

106

71B
67

71A

71A67A
71

71

107 108 69B

67B104

71B105

101
103

102

6767A
67B

31

Posts

18
18A

18B

6020
20A

20B

54
55

57
56

59
58

52
53

50
51

24  24A
 24B

22
22A

22B

26
26A

26B

28
28A

28B

32
32A

32B

30
30A

30B

34
34A

34B

29

28
27

5
4

30

3

33
32

31

6

7

145
1  to  18

P layground Nursery

Skatepark

Car Parking Spaces

Recreation Ground
Pav ilion

Sports Court

ETL

Mast

Bas ings toke Canal

WOODHAM  LANE

511

Pa th

507

9

GATE

WOODHAM

10

500

496

35.4m

Community

Health

18
19

17

Centre

Centre

16

20
21

15

14

HENNESSY COURT

36
36A

36B

22
23

85  to  95

97

99

101
103

13

1

3

1

2

6

PCs

Runn ing  T rack

5

1

35.3m

LB

2

489

4

10

5

9

11

HENNESSY COURT

8

7

487

CRESCENT

LAUREL

1

490

485

B

C

A

ESS

W arehouse

4

16

129

28

ALBERT  DR
IVE

117

4

2

Shelter

6

115

27

113

29

73B

25

Car P
ark

73B
73A 73

111

73A

73

75A

31

75

75 33
35

11

DARTM
OUTH

 AVENUE

24

5

3

ST  M ICHAEL 'S  ROAD

7

2

4

9

14

11
15

8
6

Car Park ing  Spaces

14

12

10

17

16

Dartm
ou th  G

reen

18

3

22

1

5

20

40

139

28

52

149

64

1

Shelter

159

42

29

9
7

21

17

19

11

15

2323

8

19
21

23

54

25

6

ST  M ICHAEL 'S  ROAD

28

15

11

14

HENSLOW
 W

AY

33

56

27

29

31

58

35

37

25

60

24

81B

3979

83A

81B

79B

37

79A

77A
77

81A

75B
75B

83B

81

75A

77B

81A
81

41

83

61

63
62

64
65

38  38A
 38B

40
40A

40B

66
67

68

42
42A

42B

E l Sub  S ta

44
44A

44B

73
74

76

72
71

75

70
69

46
46A

46B

43

83B

61

83A

LB

53

83

89B 89A
89 55

89B

Car Park ing  Spaces

93

89A
89

93A

45

91B
91A

85B

85

91

26

85B

91A91B

87B
87A

87

47
49

91

51

57
59

9393B 6393A

83

81

86

77

87

78

85

82

80
79

84

48
48A

48B

97B

93B

97A

122

97

121
120

97B

9595A95B

97A

119
118

97

95B

PO

113

95A
95

65

117

114

115

116

50
50a

50b

111

107

109

105

21

12

17

15

19

11

9

SPENCER
 CLO

SE

7

3

1

5

10
10A
10B

12
12A
12B

56
56A

56B

52  52A
 52B

54
54A

54B

58
58A

58B

60
60A

60B

D ra in

6
6A
6B

8
8A
8B

Car Park ing  Spaces

4
4A
4B

2
2A
2B

B ike
 S torage

Car Park

12
12A
12B

10
10A
10B

Path

3

4

28

D
a rtm

ou
th2

1

30

DARTM
OUTH

 AVENUE
32

112
123

124
125

126
127

128

TCB

129
130

131
132

125

125A

125B

133

121

121A

121B

135

134

123

123A

123B

119

119A

119B

5

45

52
50

38

129

129A

129B

34

127

127A

127B
127

127A

127B

36

40
42

4646

44

Church
Shared

DEVONSH IRE

48

S
t M

ichae l

68
68A

68B

64
64A

64B

66
66A

66B

62
62A

62B

Car Park

Car Park

4
4A
4B

8
8A
8B

Forsyth  Pa th

6
6A
6B

2
2A
2B

E l Sub  S ta

CLOSE

10
10A
10B

LO
DER

12
12A
12B

131

131A

131B

133

133A

133B

74
74A

74B

70
70A

70B

72
72A

72B

129129A

129B

135135A

135B

137137A

137B

131131A

131B

139139A

139B

133133A

133B

8
8A
8B

DEVONSH IRE  AVENUE

6
6A
6B

B ike  S to rage

4
4A
4B

2
2A
2B

76

She lte r

15

TCB

Posts

2

11

161

Hanbu ry
Path

14

1

163

Pos ts

72

El Sub Sta

ED & W
ard Bdy

CR

W e ll

M P  .75

88

ALBERT  DR IVE

2

165

177

ST  M ICHAEL 'S  ROAD

AVENUE

76

57

96

71

86

84

108

85

A llo tm en t Gardens

100

191

ED & W
ard Bdy

ED
 Bdy

112

124

20
3

136 FF

ED
 &

 W
ard  Bdy

Und Ward Bdy

120

144

132

21
5

162

150

148
FF

ED & W
ard Bdy

C
F

Sandaul

FW

96

141

97

145

10
3

10
1

21

159

House

Church

156

176

180

22
9

23
3

Court

Sm ith

11
12

20

173

DEVONSH IRE  AVENUE

19

120

P rimary Schoo l
B roadmere  Commun ity

181

24
5

126

183

(secondary)

185

The  B ishop  Dav id  B rown  Schoo l

187

247

27

Kyamin

6

Far End

Silvershade

O
LD

 AVENU
E

Shelter

202

192

ALB
ER

T  DR
IVE

FF

206

Def

249

1

15

11

6

2

218

251

261

16

12

7
11

11a

17

13

20

LAUR
E

L
 CR

ESC
EN

T

28

7

LYNW
O

O
D

 CLO
SE

Boa t
House

Bas ingstoke  Cana l

Pa th

Tenn is  Courts

63

39

32

LAM
BO

U
R

N
E

 CR
ESC

EN
T

13

23

53

51

P ine

Longhurs t

Co ttage

38

19

7

El Sub Sta

28

35.6m 1

W OODHAM

W ard  Bdy Oakleigh

LANE

35.4m

Co ttage
Chestnu t Onna linda

W ildwood

1

34.7m

2

34.1m

4

PR IORY
CLOSE

PR
IO

R
Y

 C
LO

SE

12

14

17

20

3

PR IORY  CLOSE

W ard  Bdy

H igh  T rees

WOODHAM  LANE

21

33.7m

23

1

BROADWATER  CLOSE

20 18

26

30

2

6 10

22

40

1

11 15 17

6

4

3

8

BRO
ADW

A
TER

C
LO

SE

17

El Sub Sta

50

11

13

19

29

LOCKWOOD  PATH

54
64

Where applicable the plot boundaries show the general 
boundary of the registered land, it does not show the exact

line of the boundaries. Measurements scaled from this 
plan may not match measurements between the same points 

on the ground.

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of
Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Unauthorised reproduction

infringes crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or
civil proceedings. Crown copyright and database rights 2020

Ordnance Survey. Licence number: 0100031673

Woking Borough Council &
Thameswey Ownership

KEY

Other Ownership
20

Metres

10010 0 10 30 40 50 60 70 80 90Page 47





DRAFT

KEY
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

THE COMMON SEAL OF THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES
OF WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL WAS
HEREUNTO AFFIXED IN THE PRESENCE OF:

..................................................................................
(AUTHORISED SIGNATORY)

DATED THIS                      DAY OF                                                2019

Scale 1:1750 
when printed at A1

Land to be Acquired

MAP REFERRED TO IN THE WOKING BOROUGH COUNCIL (SHEERWATER ESTATE) PROPOSED COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 2019

New Rights to be Acquired

Where applicable the plot boundaries show the general 
boundary of the registered land, it does not show the exact
line of the boundaries. Measurements scaled from this 
plan may not match measurements between the same points 
on the ground.

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf
of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office ©
Unauthorised reproduction infringes crown copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey
Licence number: 0100031673

Version: 3.0
Dated: 26/09/2019

469

470

471

454

196

472

185

182

473

452

181

451

183

180

460

219

474

450

475

449

215

216

217

218
197

219

195

200

453

198

186

184

171

456

457

448

179

461

209

459

458

184

194

211

476

193

455

192

199

462

447

176

214

187
191

177175

477

190

178

174207

188

220

206 189

213

468

208

478

479

212

375

210

374

480

463

211

373
372

158

446

371

210a

370
369

445

444

368

443

367

442

38

77

2

78

40

205

75

79

204

81

53

63

1

9

3

9

28

83

7473

71

69

67

82

36

66

61

65

39

24

158

27

62

30

41

18

19

21
22

23

34

42

12

15

14

16

10

11

37

25

13

8

26

7

29

60

6

17

5

4

9

9

64

32
35

20

33

76

80

72

70

68

43

58

202

44

57

59

54

45

56

46

201

58a

203

9

31

55

47

9

170

48

49

52

50

184

85

51

346

171

347

172 222

348

356

173

166

355

366

360

357

223

224

359

225

226
358

227

164

365

165

221

343

364

361

362

363

344

345

354

169

228

168

167

353

351

232

163

153f

153g

230
352

231

229

153h

162

349

350

153d
233

153e 234161
236

153c
153i

481

466

441

439

490

489

488

487

486

464

485
483

440

486

484

465

482

467

491

438

437434

492

436

435
493

432
431

430
425

433

321

320

134

239 319
318

140

317
240 316

128

241

139

315

242

314

135

244

127

245

136

313

246

126

120

121

117

119

115

248

137

138

122

123

118

124

243

247

125

114

113

112

110

111

109

108

107

133

249

307

398

399

99

293

98

106

290

102

306

312

231 291

311

309

397

308

305

400

303

105

104

103

292

253
252

250 251

294

298

295

297

310

296

299

301

300
304

254

116

256

100

302

289

288

257

287

286

92

285

98

284

283

282

101

258

281

280

259

260

279

264

255

95

96

90

93

94

263

98

97

275
276

277

261
262

278

274

269

496 498

402

497

503 409

410

407406

409

266

404

265

89

88

88

91

88

376

273

270
271

403

220

220

220

408

401

272

502

266

501

500

499

267

268

405

426 494

495

380

379

378

412

377

382

429

376

420

427

428

422

421

424

423

381

411

383

419

413

327

325

323

389

392

331

394

393

391
332

390334
333

335

231

387

237

418

415

336

388

385

384

416

376

339

340

414

338

341
386

417

342

238 324

330

328
329

326

395322
396

337

235
236

154160
153a

220159 155

156

153158
153a

153a
84

142

153b
141

153a
157

153

143

144

145
152

146
151

149

87

130

129

148

85

147

86

150

132

131

54

18

22

BE
N

TH
AM

 A
VE

NU
E

37

30

70

68

21

11

BATESON  WAY

15

51

9

14

120

37
39

She lte r

2

40

12

7

55

1

LB

2

57

11

82

94

100

98

102

Pa
th

104

El Sub Sta

B
as

ing
st

ok
e  

C
an

a
l

C lub

15

14

33

11

3

5

7

9

11

W
akehurs t Pa th

106

15

12

20

16

BLACKMORE  CRESCENT

108

18

14

110A110

10

6

8

2

4

55

57
57A

114

112A

116

116A

114A
112

6

1

RIVER COURT

Sheerwater Business Centre

6

7

4

CR

El Sub Sta

Woking 8

5

FORSYTH  ROAD

3

Works

El Sub Sta

28

BUNYARD  DR IVE

69

Shelter

C5

11

5

3

11

7

9

1 to 3

El Sub Sta

Anglo House

MP 23

W orks

Tanks

D

G

A3

85

83

Kingswey Business Park

2

ALBERT  DR IVE
Shelter

87

C1

El Sub Sta

A1

Tank

FORSYTH
 RO

AD

37

53

35

53A

51

55A

53A

49

49A

47
49A

41

39

40
Murray Green

10TCB

12

42
43

Car Park ing  Spaces

45A
45

89

87

61A
61

61

61A

67A

63
63A

65

67

71
69A

85

79

81
81A

79A

83A
83

85A

79A

75A
71

75
71A

73A

17
17a

73

8

6

4

46

44

48
50

91

89

ALBERT  DR IVE93

7

5

3

1

3

2

4

109

95

93

91

1
1A

1B

3
3A

3B

5
5A

5B

9
9a

11
11a

Sheerwater

15
15a

1

5
6

8
7

ST LUKES COURT

18
20

7
7A

7B

17
17A

17B

11
11A

11B

88

15
15A

15B

9
9A

9B

DARTMOUTH  AVENUE

3

1

4
5

3
2

4
5

6

7

8

109

W a lk

TH
E

 G
AT

EW
AY Heron

Esta te

W oodham  Ha ll

6

11

2

7

11

13

10

12
13

12

15

M
erlinC

ourt

124

122

118
120

3

6
4

5

211

13

12

14

15

1614

14

17

15
16

18
19

20
18

18

19

Posts

19

20

W
OODLA

NDS P
ARK

K INGF ISHER  COURT

21

17

El Sub Sta

21
22

23

2

23

22
1

24

24

25
26

33

29

WOODHAM  WAYE

2

Esta te

W oodham  Ha ll

TH
E

 G
A

TE
W

AY

2

535

529

30 28

29

2

27
26

3

Falcon Court
12

25

11

1

Posts

Posts

Posts

35

36

38

Court

Fa lcon

5

37

4

7

6

39

34

15

31.3m

1

527

El Sub Sta

10
9

8

W ard  Bdy

31.2m 509

Drain

517

126

130

130A

128

132

132A

134

134A

6
6A

6B

2
2A

2B

4
4A

4B

19
8
8A

8B

21

25

23

10
10A

10B25

DEVONSH IRE  AVENUE
27

15
4

11
10

8

Posts

9

136

136A 15
2

15
0

138
140

14
8

155 2914
6

153

144

142

W ood lands

149
151

147
147 House

14
14A

14B

97

16
16A

16B

94

98
99

96

12
12A

12B

100

95

91
92

Car Park ing  Spaces

89
90

19
6993 21

111 69A

110 69 2369B

109 69A

106

71B
67

71A

71A67A
71

71

107 108 69B

67B104

71B105

101
103

102

6767A
67B

31

Posts

18
18A

18B

6020
20A

20B

54
55

57
56

59
58

52
53

50
51

24  24A
 24B

22
22A

22B

26
26A

26B

28
28A

28B

32
32A

32B

30
30A

30B

34
34A

34B

29

28
27

5
4

30

3

33
32

31

6

7

145
1  to  18

P layground Nursery

Skatepark

Car Parking Spaces

Recreation Ground
Pav ilion

Sports Court

ETL

Mast

Bas ings toke Canal

WOODHAM  LANE

511

Pa th

507

9

GATE

WOODHAM

10

500

496

35.4m

Community

Health

18
19

17

Centre

Centre

16

20
21

15

14

HENNESSY COURT

36
36A

36B

22
23

85  to  95

97

99

101
103

13

1

3

1

2

6

PCs

Runn ing  T rack

5

1

35.3m

LB

2

489

4

10

5

9

11
HENNESSY COURT

8

7

487

CRESCENT

LAUREL

1

490

485

B

C

A

ESS

W arehouse

4

16

129

28

ALBERT  DR
IVE

117

4

2

Shelter

6

115

27

113

29

73B

25

Car P
ark

73B
73A 73

111

73A

73

75A

31

75

75 33
35

11

DARTM
OUTH

 AVENUE

24

5

3

ST  M ICHAEL 'S  ROAD

7

2

4

9

14

11
15

8
6

Car Park ing  Spaces

14

12

10

17

16

Dartm
ou th  G

reen

18

3

22

1

5

20

40

139

28

52

149

64

1

Shelter

159

42

29

9
7

21

17

19

11

15

2323

8

19
21

23

54

25

6

ST  M ICHAEL 'S  ROAD

28

15

11

14

HENSLOW
 W

AY

33

56

27

29

31

58

35

37

25

60

24

81B

3979

83A

81B

79B

37

79A

77A
77

81A

75B
75B

83B

81

75A

77B

81A
81

41

83

61

63
62

64
65

38  38A
 38B

40
40A

40B

66
67

68

42
42A

42B

E l Sub  S ta

44
44A

44B

73
74

76

72
71

75

70
69

46
46A

46B

43

83B

61

83A

LB

53

83

89B 89A
89 55

89B

Car Park ing  Spaces

93

89A
89

93A

45

91B
91A

85B

85

91

26

85B

91A91B

87B
87A

87

47
49

91

51

57
59

9393B 6393A

83

81

86

77

87

78

85

82

80
79

84

48
48A

48B

97B

93B

97A

122

97

121
120

97B

9595A95B

97A

119
118

97

95B

PO

113

95A
95

65

117

114

115

116

50
50a

50b

111

107

109

105

21

12

17

15

19

11

9

SPENCER
 CLO

SE

7

3

1

5

10
10A
10B

12
12A
12B

56
56A

56B

52  52A
 52B

54
54A

54B

58
58A

58B

60
60A

60B

D ra in

6
6A
6B

8
8A
8B

Car Park ing  Spaces

4
4A
4B

2
2A
2B

B ike
 S torage

Car Park

12
12A
12B

10
10A
10B

Path

3

4

28

D
a rtm

ou
th2

1

30

DARTM
OUTH

 AVENUE
32

112
123

124
125

126
127

128

TCB

129
130

131
132

125

125A

125B

133

121

121A

121B

135

134

123

123A

123B

119

119A

119B

5

45

52
50

38

129

129A

129B

34

127

127A

127B
127

127A

127B

36

40
42

4646

44

Church
Shared

DEVONSH IRE
48

S
t M

ichae l

68
68A

68B

64
64A

64B

66
66A

66B

62
62A

62B

Car Park

Car Park

4
4A
4B

8
8A
8B

Forsyth  Pa th

6
6A
6B

2
2A
2B

E l Sub  S ta

CLOSE

10
10A
10B

LO
DER

12
12A
12B

131

131A

131B

133

133A

133B

74
74A

74B

70
70A

70B

72
72A

72B

129129A

129B

135135A

135B

137137A

137B

131131A

131B

139139A

139B

133133A

133B

8
8A
8B

DEVONSH IRE  AVENUE

6
6A
6B

B ike  S to rage

4
4A
4B

2
2A
2B

76

She lte r

15

TCB

Posts

2

11

161

Hanbu ry
Path

14

1

163

Pos ts

72

El Sub Sta

ED & W
ard Bdy

CR

W e ll

M P  .75

88

ALBERT  DR IVE

2

165

177

ST  M ICHAEL 'S  ROAD

AVENUE

76

57

96

71

86

84

108

85

A llo tm en t Gardens

100

191

ED & W
ard Bdy112

124

20
3

136 FF

ED
 &

 W
ard  Bdy

120

144

132

21
5

162

150

148
FF

ED & W
ard Bdy

C
F

Sandaul

FW

96

141

97

145

10
3

10
1

21

159

House

Church

156

176

180

22
9

23
3

Court

Sm ith

11
12

20

173

DEVONSH IRE  AVENUE

19

120

P rimary Schoo l
B roadmere  Commun ity

181

24
5

126

183

(secondary)

185

The  B ishop  Dav id  B rown  Schoo l

187

247

27

Kyamin

6

Far End

Silvershade

O
LD

 AVENU
E

Shelter

202

192

ALB
ER

T  DR
IVE

FF

206

Def

249

1

15

11

6

2 251

16

12

7
11

11a

17

13

20

LAUR
E

L
 CR

ESC
EN

T

28

7

LYNW
O

O
D

 CLO
SE

Boa t
House

Bas ingstoke  Cana l

Pa th

Tenn is  Courts

63

39

32

LAM
BO

U
R

N
E

 CR
ESC

EN
T

13

23

53

51

P ine

Longhurs t

Co ttage

38

19

7

El Sub Sta

28

35.6m 1

W OODHAM

W ard  Bdy Oakleigh

LANE

35.4m

Co ttage
Chestnu t Onna linda

W ildwood

1

34.7m

2

34.1m

4

PR IORY
CLOSE

PR
IO

R
Y

 C
LO

SE

12

14

17

20

3

PR IORY  CLOSE

21

23

1

20 18

26

30

2

6 10

40

1

11 15 17

6

4

8

BRO
ADW

A
TER

C
LO

SE

17

50

11

13

19

54

Metres

500 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 455

Page 49





Sheerwater Regeneration

Members’ Briefing 

28 January 2020 

Ray Morgan OBE

Chief Executive 

P
age 51



P
age 52



Comprehensive Regeneration 

Producing 

• 1,142 new homes

• Extensive new leisure facilities at Bishop 

David Brown

• New Central Park

• New commercial and community buildings

P
age 53



Project Cost

£m

Land Acquisition 70

Development Cost 412

Project Cost 8

Sales & Marketing 2 

492

P
age 54



New Homes

Rent Sale Total 

1 Bed Flat 315 59 374

2 Bed Flat 170 43 213

3 Bed Flat 25 15 40

2 Bed House 45 39 84

3 Bed House 145 130 275

4 Bed House 67 84 151

5 Bed House 2 3 5

Total 769 373 1142

P
age 55



Homes to Rent 

Kingsmoor Affordable Market Total

1 Bed Flat 192 84 39 315

2 Bed Flat 141 0 29 170

3 Bed Flat 17 0 8 25

2 Bed House 14 0 31 45

3 Bed House 66 0 79 145

4 Bed House 9 0 58 67

5 Bed House 0 0 2 2

Total 439 84 246 769

P
age 56



P
age 57



Delivery Timetable  

1 f 2

Phase Start Finish

Leisure Jul-19 Dec-21

Purple Aug-19 Mar-21

Red May-21 Jun-22

Yellow May-21 Mar-23

Emerald Feb-22 Mar-23

Cyan Apr-22 May-23

Blue Dec-22 Nov-24

P
age 58



Delivery Timetable  

Phase Start Finish

Orange Dec-22 Nov-24

Bronze Sep-23 Oct-24

Gold Jul-24 Jul-25

Cobalt Sep-24 Sep-25

Platinum Sep-24 Sep-25

Copper Dec-24 Dec-25

Park (Green) Sep-22 Nov-24

P
age 59



TDL Contribution to WBC

• £8m HRA debt as properties demolished.

• New commercial units at no cost.

• New community buildings at no cost.

P
age 60



WBC Costs

• Overhead Power Line £2.1m

• Pinnacle £3.8m

• Athletic Track £8m

P
age 61



Loan Facility 

• TDL Development Loan £116m

• THL Asset Loan £290m

• THL Revolving Loan £116m

• Peak Aggregate Debt £350m

P
age 62



• THL loan repayments greater than net 

income. 

• Rents forecast to increase by CPI + 1%.

• Revolving loan needed until 2068.

• THL loan repaid by 2078.

• Forecast THL surplus 2078 - £150m.

P
age 63



• Council can authorise funding to deliver 

the scheme. 

• Risk mitigation to include:

- Seeking a project rate from PWLB.

- Reviewing tender returns in October 

2020.

- Updating rental and sales outlook in 

October 2020.

P
age 64



Compulsory Purchase

• “Compulsory Purchase Powers are an 

important tool to use as a means of 

assembling the land needed to help deliver 

social, environmental and economic 

change.” DCLG Circular, February 2018.

• Major regeneration projects not possible

without a CPO.

P
age 65



Compulsory Purchase

• CPO made as a last resort.

• Particularly useful where land is in 

unknown ownership, or ancient rights of 

way exist.

• Significant progress in the voluntary 

purchase of residential properties:-

P
age 66



Compulsory Purchase

• Voluntary Purchases:-

�120 properties to acquire

Of which,

� only 6 homeowners have not engaged with 

Council

�100 completed purchases

� 4 contracts exchanged

�10 at “legals”/offer stage 

P
age 67



Indicative Land 

Ownerships

P
age 68



Secure Tenants

• 2017 – 326 secure tenants in red-line 

area.

• Housing team sought to contact all secure 

tenants (letter/phone/door knock).

• 28 secure tenants not engaged with 

Council.

• January 2020 – 159 secure tenants moved 

to new accommodation.

P
age 69



Secure Tenants

• Projection is that 71% of secure tenants 

will want to leave Sheerwater, with 29% 

wishing to remain and occupy a new 

property.

• Last resort – notice of seeking possession 

coupled with offer of suitable alternative 

accommodation.

P
age 70



Next Steps

Council February 2020

- Approve funding

- Approve Executive undertaking

- Approve process for CPO

- Approve process for possession of secure 

tenancies

P
age 71



Next Steps

Council April 2020

- Make CPO

Council December 2020

- Approve tender return 

- Authorising start of next phase(s)

P
age 72



WBC20-002

COUNCIL – 13 FEBRUARY 2020

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2020/21 AND GENDER PAY GAP DATA

Executive Summary

Pay Policy

Sections 38 to 43 of the Localism Act 2011 require local authorities to prepare an annual pay policy 
statement for each financial year.

The statement must specifically cover the authority's policies relating to:
 the remuneration of its chief officers;
 the remuneration of its lowest-paid employees, and
 the relationship between –

- the remuneration of its chief officers, and
- the remuneration of its employees who are not chief officers

 the definition of ‘lowest-paid employees’ adopted;
 the level and elements of remuneration for each chief officer;
 remuneration of chief officers on recruitment;
 increases and additions to remuneration for each chief officer;
 the use of performance-related pay for chief officers;
 the use of bonuses for chief officers;
 the approach to the payment of chief officers on their ceasing to hold office or to be 

employed by the authority;
 the publication of and access to information relating to remuneration of chief officers;

The statement may also cover the authority’s policy relating to:
 policies for the financial year relating to the other terms and conditions applying to the 

authority’s chief officers.

Chief Officer is defined to include:
- the head of its paid service designated under section 4(1) of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989;
- its monitoring officer under section 5(1) of that Act;
- a statutory chief officer under section 2(6) of that Act;
- a non-statutory chief officer under section 2(7) of that Act;
- a deputy chief officer in section 2(8) of that Act.

The pay policy statement has to be approved by a resolution of the authority.  Following approval, 
the statement must be published as soon as possible on the authority's website.  The Council may 
amend the pay policy statement in-year and this also requires a resolution.

The Act specifies that the functions relating to pay accountability are not executive functions and 
also that section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, which gives local authorities powers to 

Page 73

Agenda Item 10



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

arrange for the discharge of their functions by committees, officers or other local authorities, does 
not apply to these functions.  This means that the resolution must be approved by full Council.

Gender Pay Gap

Woking Borough Council is required by law to publish annual gender pay gap data.  The Equality 
Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017 require all employers with 250 or more 
employees to publish data based on the snap-shot date 31 March 2019.  In addition the Council 
has to depict pay quartiles by gender whereby the workforce is divided into four equal-sized groups 
based on hourly pay rates, with the Upper Quartile covering the highest paid 25% and the lower 
quartile containing the lowest paid 25%.  The data has to be published on the Council’s website 
annually.  The figures set out in the following report have been calculated using the standard 
methodologies used in the Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017.

These provisions add to the range of transparency obligations already placed upon the Council 
such as the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 which already require historic expenditure on 
chief officers within specified pay bands to be disclosed in the annual statement of accounts

Ethnicity Pay Gap

The Government has consulted on whether organisations should collect and publish information on 
its Ethnicity Pay Gap and we are awaiting the outcome.  The Council has calculated its Ethnicity 
Pay Gap for 2019.

Recommendations

The Council is invited to approve the Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2020/21 and in so 
doing comply with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011.

The Council is invited to note the gender pay gap data based on the snap-shot date of 31 March 
2019 and in doing so comply with The Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) 
Regulations 2017.  

The Council is invited to note the ethnic pay gap data based on the snap-shot date of 31 March 
2019.

The Council is requested to:

RESOLVE That       

(i) the Pay Policy Statement be approved for publication; 

(ii) the Gender Pay Gap data be approved for publication; and

(iii) the Ethnicity Pay Gap data be noted.

The Council has the authority to determine the recommendations set out above.

Background Papers: Sustainability Impact assessment
Equalities Impact Assessment.

Reporting Person: Ray Morgan, Chief Executive
Email: ray.morgan@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3333 

Page 74



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

Contact Person: Amanda Jeffrey, Head of Human Resources
Email: amanda.jeffrey@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3904 

Date Published: 7 February 2020

Page 75



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

Page 76



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This Pay Policy Statement is provided in accordance with Sections 38 - 43 of the Localism 
Act 2011.

1.2 This Pay Policy Statement sets out Woking Borough Council’s policies relating to the pay of 
its workforce for the financial year 2020-21.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Council has developed its own local terms and conditions including pay.  The local pay 
scale covers all employees of the Council.

2.2 As required by law, the Council provides all of its employees with the opportunity to join the 
Local Government Pension Scheme.

3.0 Definition

3.1 For the purpose of this pay policy the following definitions will apply:

‘Remuneration’, in addition to salary this includes taxable earnings and non-taxable benefits 
(and is more particularly defined in section 46 of the Localism Act 2011).

‘Chief officer’ refers to the following statutory and non-statutory roles within Woking Borough 
Council as follows:

 Chief Executive, as Head of Paid Service

 Deputy Chief Executive

 Strategic Directors 

 Section 151 Officer/Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer

 Senior Managers who report directly to those listed above

3.2 ‘Lowest paid Employees’ refers to employees employed within grade W1 of the Council’s 
current pay grading structure, other than apprenticeships or traineeships.  This definition for 
the ‘lowest paid employees’ has been adopted because grade W1 is the lowest grade on the 
Councils grading structure on which employees are paid.  The bottom point on this pay scale 
is £17,364.  To enable meaningful comparison the Council uses employees on full time 
contracts for this definition.

4.0 Pay Framework and Remuneration

4.1 Remuneration at all levels needs to be adequate to secure and retain high-quality employees 
dedicated to fulfilling the Council’s business objectives and delivering services to the public.  
This has to be balanced by ensuring remuneration is not unnecessarily excessive.  The 
Council has responsibility for balancing these factors.  The overall pay bill is controlled within 
a financial envelope agreed at least annually by the Council/Executive. 

4.2 It is essential for good governance that decisions on pay and reward packages for chief 
executives and chief officers are made in an open and accountable way and that there is an 
accountable process for recommending the levels of top salaries.  Our policy is to pay 
appropriately to attract competent and experienced senior employees to lead the 
organisation.  Our aim is to be regarded as competitive as compared to the level of pay 
locally and neighbouring local authorities.

Page 77



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

4.3 All Woking Borough Council employees are on local conditions.  The pay and reward 
structure and the performance management process apply to all employees including chief 
officers.  Targets for both objectives and behaviours are set and performance against those 
targets is assessed.

4.4 The Authority has a salary and grading structure for all employees which includes the grades 
and salaries applicable to chief officers.  The grade allocated to a post is determined by the 
duties, level of responsibility and behaviours required as outlined in the job description, 
person specification and role map.

4.5 The grade framework comprises of 12 grades.  Outside the main framework there are 4 
trainee grades.  All employees are placed within the grade framework on a fixed salary 
based on an assessment of the job role.  Progression through a grade is based on an 
assessment of behaviour, skill and performance following the outcome of an annual 
performance and development review (PDR).  Each employee receives an overall grading 
which determines the amount of performance pay to be awarded.  Payments are made 
against a pre-determined amount to ensure the scheme remains affordable. 

4.6 Indexation is considered annually for all employees in consultation with UNISON.

4.7 In addition to basic pay all chief officers and employees are eligible to receive the following 
benefits:

 If the officer is a member of the Local Government Pension Scheme the employers’ 
contribution.

 Payment of an annual subscription to one professional institution where this has a clear 
benefit or is a requisite to the job.

 A flexible benefit paid in monthly instalment.  This can be used to purchase a public 
sector season ticket, obtain a vehicle through the Council’s car leasing scheme or as a 
cash alternative.  Normal tax and national insurance rules apply.

4.8 The Council does not have a lump sum performance related pay or bonus scheme.

5.0 Policy on the lowest paid employees

5.1 When determining any pay award the Council considers the needs of the lowest paid and the 
Living Wage (outside London rate).  

5.2 The Council is supportive of the principle of equal pay in employment and has made a 
commitment to involve and work positively with UNISON to develop and maintain an open 
and transparent process and dialogue.

6.0 Policy on the Remuneration Multiple (Ratio) Between Lowest and Highest Paid 
Employees

6.1 Our policy is that the ratio is broadly in line with comparator authorities.

6.2 The average (median) chief officer remuneration is £72,856; the average (median) 
remuneration for employees other than the chief officers is £32,417.  Therefore the ratio of 
average chief officer remuneration to the average remuneration of other employees is 2.2:1.

6.3 The ratio between the highest paid earner, the Chief Executive, to the average (median) 
remuneration of the whole workforce is 3.9:1.

Page 78



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

7.0 Remuneration on Employment

7.1 Our policy is to appoint at, or near, the bottom taking into account the relevant skills and 
experience of the person appointed.  Progression through the grade is as outlined in section 
4 above.  Appointments at chief officer level below Chief Executive are made by more senior 
officers with Member involvement as appropriate.  On occasion the Council will request input 
from neighbouring authorities or other experts in the recruitment process particularly when 
the post requires specialist knowledge.  Appointments to the post of Chief Executive are 
made by the leading Members and approved by the Council.

8.0 Approach to the Payment of Officers in the Event of their Ceasing to Hold Office or be 
Employed by the Authority

8.1 The Council’s redundancy framework sets out a consistent method of calculating redundancy 
pay which is applied to all redundant employees.  The level of redundancy pay is calculated 
using the statutory system with a multiplier of 2.2 and no cap on weekly earnings.  The 
payment is intended to recompense employees for the loss of their livelihood and provide 
financial support whilst they seek alternative employment.  

8.2 Officers who leave the Council’s employment, where appropriate, will receive compensation 
in line with the Council’s redundancy payments policy or through a negotiated settlement.

9.0 The Publication of and Access to Information Relating to Remuneration of Chief 
Officers.

9.1 The annual Pay Policy statement will be published on the website where it can be easily 
accessed.  Information about senior officer remuneration has been published on the 
Council’s website as part of the Final Statement of Accounts and transparency agenda.  The 
grade framework for all employees is published on the Council’s website.

10.0 Additions to Remuneration for Chief Officers

10.1 One or more chief officers will be eligible for payments for election duties (e.g. as Returning 
Officer or Deputy Returning Officer/s) which is calculated based on the number of electors in 
each ward in the election.  There is an agreed Surrey wide scale of fees and charges which 
sets out the amounts used to calculate this.

10.2 Fees for borough, county and Police Commissioner elections vary according to the size of 
the electorate and number of postal voters.  Payments for General and European elections 
are set by central government and are not paid by the Council as the money is reclaimed.

11.0 Policy on Employing Someone Who Has Taken Redundancy from another Authority.

11.1 If there is less than a 4 week gap between someone being made redundant from another 
council and joining Woking Borough Council they will be required to repay their redundancy 
payment to their previous employer.  If the gap is longer than 4 weeks they can retain their 
payment but their continuous service is broken, which means that they would have no 
eligibility for redundancy payments until they have 2 years continuous service with this 
authority.

12.0 Policy on Employing Someone Who is Also Drawing a Pension

12.1 The Council will consider all requests from employees who wish to draw their pension but 
continue working.  

Page 79



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

13.0 Policy on Additional Employments 

13.1 The Council’s Conditions of Service provide for employees:- to have one or more 
employments with the Council, in which cases the arrangements outlined above apply; 
private employment or outside activity conditional upon such employments or activity not 
prejudicing their main employment with the Council; and appointments to remunerated roles 
directed or authorised by the Council.

14.0 Gender Pay Gap

14.1 Woking Borough Council is now required by law to publish an annual gender pay gap data.  
The Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017 require all employers 
with 250 or more employees to publish data based on its figures on a snap-shot date of 31 
March.  This is our third report.

14.2 The data has to be published on the Council’s website annually. 

Definitions

14.3 For the purpose of the gender pay gap data gathering the following definitions will apply:

14.4 The mean gender pay gap is the difference between average hourly earnings of men and 
women.

14.5 The median gender pay gap is the difference between the mid-point in the range of hourly 
earnings of men and women, when arranged from the highest to lowest.

14.6 In addition the Council has to depict pay quartiles by gender. The workforce is divided into 
four equal-sized groups or quartiles based on hourly pay rates, with the upper quartile 
covering the highest paid 25% and the lower quartile containing the lowest paid 25%.

Pay Gap Data

14.7 The mean gender pay gap for the Council is 18.26% (19.31% for 2018).  The median gender 
pay gap for the Council is 15.76% (16.20% for 2018). The tables below set out the relevant 
data for the Council.

Pay Quartiles by Gender (figures for 2018 in brackets)

Quartile Male Female Description

Upper 56.44%
(58.9%)

43.56%
(41.1%)

Includes all employees whose standard hourly 
rate places them above the upper quartile

Quartile 2 34.65%
(30.5%)

65.35%
(69.5%)

Includes all employees whose standard hourly 
rate places them above the median but at or 
below the upper quartile

Quartile 3 24.75%
(27.4%)

75.25%
(72.6%)

Includes all employees whose standard hourly 
rate places them above the lower quartile but 
at or below the median

Lower 29.70%
(30.5%)

70.30%
(69.5%)

Includes all employees whose standard hourly 
rate places them at or below the lower quartile

Page 80



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

Organisational make-up – quartiles

Upper Quartile Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Lower Quartile
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Male 2019 Male 2018 Female 2019 Female 2018

Mean hourly pay – quartiles

Upper Quartile Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Lower Quartile
£0.00

£5.00

£10.00

£15.00

£20.00

£25.00

£30.00

Male 2019
Male 2018
Female 2019
Female 2018

Page 81



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

Median hourly pay – quartiles

Upper Quartile Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Lower Quartile
£0.00

£5.00

£10.00

£15.00

£20.00

£25.00

£30.00

Male 2019
Male 2018
Female 2019
Female 2018

Difference between men and women

Quartile Mean hourly 
rate - male

Mean hourly 
rate - female

Mean gender 
pay gap

Median 
hourly rate - 
male

Median 
hourly rate - 
female

Median 
gender pay 
gap

Upper £25.31

(£28.03)

£22.97

(£19.03)

9.25%

(32.11%)

£23.59

(£24.65)

£21.23

(£19.23)

10%

(21.99%)

Quartile 2 £15.46

(£16.55)

£15.22

(£14.23)

1.55%

(14.02%)

£15.48

(£16.40)

£14.87

(£14.03)

3.94%

(14.45%)

Quartile 3 £12.92

(£13.01)

£12.61

(£11.95)

2.40%

(8.15%)

£12.79

(£13.03)

£12.79

(£12.03)

0%

(7.67%)

Lower £9.67

(£10.11)

£9.86

(£8.63)

-1.96%

(14.64%)

£9.35

(£10.05)

£9.47

(£8.46)

-1.28%

(15.82%)

(Figures for 2018 in brackets)

Data in context

14.8 The Council’s Pay structure and policies ensure all employees are paid equally for the same 
or equivalent work, regardless of their sex or any other characteristic protected under the 
Equality Act 2010. The analysis shows that the Council still has a significant gender pay gap, 
however it is an improving picture and analysis of the quartiles is very positive, e.g. the pay 
gap for the upper quartile has reduced from 32% in 2018 to 9.25% in 2019 and small or 
negative gap exists for the other quartiles.

14.9 Across the UK as a whole, men are more likely than women to be in senior roles, especially 
very senior roles at the top of organisations.  This is true for the Council.  Stability at senior 
management level has meant opportunities for women to progress into the upper quartile 
have been limited. Generally women are more likely than men to be in front-line roles often 

Page 82



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

paid at the lower end of pay scales. This is reflected in the picture for the Council.  The 
Council’s pay policy has focused on raising the level of pay for the lowest grades, to ensure 
that the roles are valued and paid the living wage, set by the Living Wage Foundation.

14.10The upper quartile is 56% male.  These are the most senior roles in the highest pay bands, 
hence the pay gap is larger.

14.11The pattern from the UK economy as a whole is reflected in the figures found in our upper 
quartile where men are more likely to be in senior roles.  Women are more likely to have had 
breaks from work which have affected their career progression, for example to bring up 
children.  

14.12The mean gender pay gap for the public sector 15.9% according to the October 2019 Office 
for National Statistics (ONS) Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) figures.  The 
figure is 6.1% for Local Government.    

Addressing the pay gap

14.13Woking Borough Council is committed to reducing our gender pay gap. An Action Plan has 
been developed, covering 5 key areas, Pay and Performance, Recruitment and Promotion, 
Training and Development, Flexible and Part-time Working and General.  This is attached 
(appendix 1).

14.14Detailed analysis of the salary structure, including levels, pay grade and working hours has 
been carried out and no significant issues were identified indicating our pay arrangements 
are rational, fair and transparent.  The exercise will be repeated every three years.   We have 
carried out analysis of recruitment statistics, applications for promotion and analysis of PDR’s 
and pay reviews. Again no issues were identified.

14.15We aim to recruit from the widest possible talent pool. We will look at whether we can 
improve this, including looking at language used in adverts. Our application process is blind 
and has no personal details available for shortlisting. HR carry out spot-checks on shortlisting 
to ensure no bias is taking place. Managers are trained on how to recruit using competency 
based interview techniques that aim to avoid unconscious bias; ensuring all managers are 
consistent and competent in recruitment.

14.16We offer our employees a wide range of flexible working options to enable them to effectively 
manage their work/life balance.  These options include part-time working, condensed 
working weeks, job share, home working, agile working and a generous flexi-time scheme. In 
addition we offer an additional leave purchase scheme. We will look into the uptake of the 
various options across the organisation and continue to promote these to employees.  

14.17We are committed to offering advancement opportunities and training to all employees, 
including Management Development, coaching and mentoring for those moving into senior 
positions. We will look at the Performance Review process and ensure it is robust and fit for 
purpose and that we are able to identify from within our current workforce those employees 
who have the potential to grow into more senior roles.  We will offer training, support and 
development opportunities to those employees including coaching and mentoring both within 
and outside of our organisation. We will also gather qualitative data through a consultation 
exercise across the organisation to identify the barriers (and the drivers) for women 
employees.

15.0 Ethnicity Pay Gap

15.1 The Government has consulted on whether organisations should collect and publish 
information on its Ethnicity Pay Gap and we are awaiting the outcome.  In anticipation of this 
the Council has calculated its Ethnicity Pay Gap for 2019.

Page 83



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

White British 307 employees (75.99%)
Other Ethnicity  92 employees (22.77%)
Not known/prefer not to say   5 employees (1.24%)
Mean hourly rate (White British) £15.91
Mean hourly rate (other ethnicity) £13.91
Mean ethnicity pay gap 12.57%
Median hourly rate (White British) £14.33
Median hourly rate (other ethnicity) £12.79
Median ethnicity pay gap 10.76%

Pay Quartiles by ethnicity

Quartile White 
British

Other 
ethnicity

Not 
known

Description

Upper 90.1 9.9% Includes all employees whose standard hourly rate places them above 
the upper quartile

Quartile 2 81% 16.83% 2.17% Includes all employees whose standard hourly rate places them above 
the median but at or below the upper quartile

Quartile 3 64.36% 34.65% 0.99% Includes all employees whose standard hourly rate places them above 
the lower quartile but at or below the median

Lower 68.32% 30.69% 0.99% Includes all employees whose standard hourly rate places them at or 
below the lower quartile

Quartile Mean hourly 
rate – White 
British 

Mean hourly 
rate – other 
ethnicity

Mean ethnicity 
pay gap

Median 
hourly rate 
– White 
British

Median 
hourly rate 
– other 
ethnicity

Median 
ethnicity 
pay gap

Upper £24.53 £22.13   9.78% £23.19 £21.86   5.74%

Quartile 2 £15.25 £14.37   5.77% £14.87 £14.00   5.85%

Quartile 3 £12.58 £12.69  -0.87% £12.79 £12.79 0%

Lower £9.58 £9.94  -3.78% £9.35 £9.90 -5.88%

15.2 Currently national and local ethnicity pay gap data is unavailable to allow any comparisons to 
be drawn.  As mirrored in the gender data a pay gap occurs in the upper quartiles of the 
Councils employee structure.  Further analysis of the data is required to enable officers to 
draw any conclusions at this stage.  This will be reported in the next Pay Policy statement.

16.0 Implications

Financial

16.1 To foster a transparent pay and reward framework which is accountable and managed 
appropriately.

Human Resource/Training and Development

16.2 Ensure compliance with current legislation and brief managers appropriately.

Page 84



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

Community Safety

16.3 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

Risk Management

16.4 There are no risk management implications arising from this report.

Sustainability

16.5 There are no sustainability implications arising from this report.

Equalities

16.6 To ensure the Council continues to comply with Equal Pay legislation.

Safeguarding

16.7 This policy complies with Safeguarding requirements.

17.0 Conclusions

17.1 The Council is invited to approve the Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2020/21 and 
in so doing comply with the provisions of the Localism Act 2011.

17.2 The Council is invited note the gender pay gap data based on the snap-shot date of 31 
March 2019 and in doing so comply with The Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap 
Information) Regulations 2017.

17.3 The Council is also invited note the ethnicity pay gap data.

REPORT ENDS

Page 85



Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

Page 86



WBC20-002

Appendix 1

Gender Pay Gap Action Plan 2018/20 

PAY AND  PERFORMANCE TIMESCALE RESPON
SIBILITY

ACTION/PROGRESS

Undertake detailed analysis of salary 
structure. 

June 2019 AJ/SR To identify if any inconsistences are occurring across job level, pay grade, 
full/part-time.
Completed.  To be repeated every 3 years.

Analyse data on starting salaries of 
appointments and promoted posts.

May 2019 RB Completed.  No discrepancies found. 

Analyse PDR rating by gender. June 2019 SR Assess evidence of gender based differences.
Completed for 2019.  To be completed annually.

RECRUITMENT AND PROMOTION

Introduce recruitment and selection 
guidelines. 
 

1 October 
2020

SH To cover good practice on shortlisting/HR involvement/gender balance on 
interview panel/gender neutral language in adverts & job descriptions.

Ensure employees involved in the 
recruitment process receive training, 
including non-discrimination & fair 
treatment in recruitment. 

September 
2019

All Investigate e-learning provision
Classroom based course held May 2019
Induction for new recruiting managers – ongoing.

Assess suitability of each new role 
advertised for flexible working.

Ongoing HR 
Managers
CMG

Assess wording on adverts/website

Increase women’s access to networking 
and informal development opportunities, 
e.g. In-house mentoring programme.

2020 HR
Managers

Undertake focus groups to assess requirements.
Investigate setting up The Looking Glass networking events in Woking.

Ask senior employee who works 
flexibly/part-time to become a flexible 
working champion/share story.

2020 HR For inclusion in employee communications.

P
age 87



Pay Policy Statement 2020/21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

Investigate a return to work programme. During 2020 RZ Designed to assist new/returning mothers with opportunities to enhance 
their skills.

Review employee survey questions to 
include a question on how well particular 
policies are implemented, e.g. flexible 
working/carers leave.

2020 HR Review survey questions
Next Employee Survey due February 2020

In progress

Review employee survey to see how 
responses could be analysed in a more 
meaningful way, e.g. by gender & teams.

For February 
2020 survey 
release

SR Review metrics requested.

In progress

Amalgamate family friendly policies into 
Caring for Children and Young People 
Policy.  Communicate & promote the 
benefits to employees once approved. 

June 2019 SH/LL
CMG
Unison

Updated policy to CMG (Jan 2020) and then Unison for consultation

Evaluate the Working Forward 
Campaign

January 2020 SH/LL
CMG

Designed to make the workplace the best it can be for pregnant women and 
new parents. 

Review Harassment Policy, including 
sexual harassment, to ensure it is fit for 
purpose.

July 2019 RZ
CMG
Unison

Research best practice – ACAS. Major review of Bullying & Harassment 
carried out in 2019, including survey, updating policy & procedures, 
awareness raising and training.

Review exit interview process. September 
2020

LL Assess why employees are leaving the organisation.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 

Continue to promote learning & 
development opportunities across the 
organisation.  Look into introducing 
secondment opportunities. 

Ongoing SR/AJ Work in progress

Assess talent management 
programmes/women in leadership 
programmes to see if appropriate for 
organisation.

During 2019 SR/AJ Work in progress

P
age 88



Pay Policy Statement 2020/21 and Gender Pay Gap Data

FLEXIBLE AND PART-TIME 
WORKING

Map what types of flexible working are 
used in the organisation and look at this 
by team & gender.

2020 HR Anonymous survey

Review how flexible working e-forms and 
guidelines are communicated to 
employees to ensure it is easily 
accessible & understood by everyone.

During 2020 HR Change approach if required.

GENERAL

Consultation exercise with employees 
(using Facilitation Network) re. gender 
pay &
 related areas.

During 2020 RZ Seek views of employees and test assumptions.

P
age 89





WBC20-005

COUNCIL – 13 FEBRUARY 2020

NOTICES OF MOTION

Executive Summary

The following Notices of Motion were received by the deadline of midday on Thursday, 6 February 
2020.

1 Councillor A-M Barker

Provision of Walk in health service provision in Woking

Council notes that 

o Woking Walk in Centre is a much valued local health facility.

o North West Surrey Clinical Commissioning Group is currently reviewing provision of 
urgent care and walk in facilities across the area.

o NHS England policy is towards a model of GP led services at Urgent Treatment Centres.

o A number of options for walk in health provision are under consideration for North West 
Surrey but in several scenarios Woking would no longer have a Walk in facility in the 
borough.

Council understands that

o No decisions on future walk in provision have been made

o Consultation will take place before any changes are made to local walk in provision

Council instructs 

The Chief Executive to write to North West Surrey CCG highlighting:

o The huge value this Council and local residents place on the Walk in Centre.

o The number of new properties being built or planned in the town centre that will put 
additional pressure on existing GP services.

o The need to fully involve the Council and local residents in any proposals to change 
current walk in provision for the borough..

Page 91

Agenda Item 11



Notices of Motion

2. Councillor A-M Barker

Fireworks

A number of councillors have been contacted by residents in relation to the RSPCA initiative 
to reduce the impact of fireworks and Sky Lanterns on animals, and have asked their Council 
to support a motion to support measures which will help ensure people can enjoy fireworks 
responsibly whilst minimising the risk to animal welfare, horses, farm animals and wildlife and 
residents.

Woking Council can play its part in this by direct action or by lobbying other Government 
departments and retailers to play their part.  Accordingly, the Council resolves to:

o Request all publicly organised firework displays within the Woking area to be advertised 
on the Woking Council website in advance of the event, so that everyone can enjoy the 
celebrations and residents are able to take precautions for their animals and vulnerable 
people.

o Actively promote a public awareness campaign about the impact of fireworks on animal 
welfare and vulnerable people including the precautions that can be taken to mitigate 
risks.

o Write to the UK Government urging them to introduce legislation to limit the maximum 
noise level of fireworks to 90dB for those sold to the public for private display.

o Encourage trading standards to enforce more rigorously the regulations of the selling of 
fireworks both in terms of age appropriateness, licencing and CE markings.

3. Councillor G G Chrystie

Confidential Reporting at Council & Committees

Following upon various issues arising recently and current apparent paucity of member 
involvement it is proposed that adjustments are made to the current classification practice as 
follows :

1. Member input is vital and the Monitoring Officer must consult the Council Leader and 
Leader of the Opposition prior to making a decision upon a Part 2 designation. 

2. In all cases where there is a statutory requirement for confidentiality then the Monitoring 
Officer’s recommendation shall be automatically endorsed by the said 2 Councillors.

3. The principle guiding Part 2 designations must be transparency is required unless there 
is a substantial material commercial reason for confidentiality.

4. All matters deemed subject to Part 2 must be regularly reviewed and as soon as 
possible an item must be declassified (unless there is a statutory bar on 
declassification).

Background Papers: None.

Reporting Person: Ray Morgan, Chief Executive
Email: ray.morgan@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3333

Page 92



Notices of Motion

Contact Person: Frank Jeffrey, Democratic Services Manager
Email: frank.jeffrey@woking.gov.uk, Extn: 3012

Date Published: 7 February 2020

REPORT ENDS

Page 93




	Agenda
	5 Declarations of Interest.
	8 Recommendations of the Executive - WBC20-004.
	9 Sheerwater Regeneration - WBC20-001
	WBC20-001 Appendix 1 - Sheerwater Finance Summary
	WBC20-001 - Appendix 2a - DJB CPO Addendum Amended WBC 4.2.20
	WBC20-001 - Appendix 2b - WBC and Thameswey Ownership Plan
	WBC20-001 - Appendix 3 - Woking BC Sheerwater CPO Map v3.0
	WBC20-001 - Appendix 4 - Sheerwater Regeneration Presentation - 28 January 2020

	10 Pay Policy Statement 2020-21 and Gender Pay Gap Data - WBC20-002
	11 Notices of Motion

